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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM
GEM 245t

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.

Unless otherwise stated, all monetary figures are expressed in SGD.
Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have
been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as
totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the
figures preceding them. Expressions used throughout this report have
their meanings set out in the section headed “Definitions and Glossary
of Technical Terms”.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk for at
least 7 days from the date of its publication. This report will also be
published on the Company’s website at www.sunlightpaper.com.sg.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
XS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report and
the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 30.9.2023.

Our business is directly related to the level of commercial activities.

In the Previous Year, existing COVID-19 restrictions on commercial
activities were lifted in the middle of the financial year, whereupon
commercial activities gradually recovered. During the Relevant Year,
no COVID-19 restrictions were imposed and commercial activities
were normal. This resulted in customers ordering more quantities of
tissue products, contributing to an increase in revenue.

We adjusted our selling prices constantly to counter inflation. Gross
profit improved in the Relevant Year.

During the Relevant Year, we upgraded our conversion line for the
production of jumbo roll tissues. We are using this upgraded
conversion line to produce jumbo roll tissues.

PERFORMANCE

Our revenue increased by 21.4% from $12.0 million in the Previous
Year to $14.6 million in the Relevant Year as COVID-19 restrictions
were fully lifted.

Gross profit increased by 63.0% from $2.8 million in the Previous
Year to $4.5 million in the Relevant Year as we adjusted our selling
prices constantly.

Our profit increased by 150.0% from $260,000 in the Previous Year
to $650,000 in the Relevant Year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEBE

PROSPECTS

COVID-19 continues to evolve. Singapore government is prepared.
The latest COVID-19 vaccines are quickly available. COVID-19
healthcare protocols are well established.

We are confident in growing our revenue as the consumption of
tissue products is directly related to the level of commercial activities.

QOver the past 45 years, we have built strong ties with customers and
suppliers. We provide quality products to our customers and maintain
product delivery satisfaction.

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quality tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | express my sincere gratitude to our
management and staff for their hard work and dedication as well as
to our Shareholders and business partners for their support.

Chua Liang Sie
Chairman and Executive Director
Singapore, 15.12.2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

We supply tissue products to corporate customers in Singapore. We
provide comprehensive services, ranging from advising the types and
specifications of tissue products, sourcing suitable products,
conducting quality control, delivery of products through our fleet of
delivery trucks, to providing after-sales services.

Our revenue is mainly from the sale of: (i) tissue products, (i) hygiene-
related products, and (iii) other related products.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic

Our business is directly related to the level of commercial activities.

In the Previous Year, existing COVID-19 restrictions on commercial
activities were lifted in the middle of the financial year, whereupon
commercial activities gradually recovered. During the Relevant Year,
no COVID-19 restrictions were imposed and commercial activities
were normal. This resulted in customers ordering more quantities of
tissue products.

Impact on operations

During the Relevant Year, there was no impact on our delivery of
tissue products to customers and our receipt of tissue products from
vendors. There is a risk that our employees may be infected with
COVID-19 affecting the delivery of tissue products to our customers.
We countered this risk by appointing external logistics service
providers on standby. There is a risk that our vendors are shut down
due to COVID-19 infection at their factories. We countered this risk by
stocking up more tissue products and by appointing multiple vendors
spread over different countries.

Impact on financial results

The revenue for the Relevant Year was $14.6 million, representing an
increase of $2.6 million or 21.4% against the Previous Year revenue
of $12.0 million as COVID-19 restrictions were fully lifted.

Impact on liquidity and working capital

We continue to generate positive operating profit before working capital
changes in the Relevant Year. Together with net current assets of $4.1
million at 30.9.2023, we have sufficient funds for working capital
requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic (Continued)

Management of COVID-19 pandemic

Our principal business to supply tissue products to corporate
customers remains unchanged because tissue products are daily
necessities. Our delivery of tissue products to our customers via our
own fleet of trucks also remains unchanged. Our overall strategy in
this pandemic is to avoid self-inflicted interruptions to our operations.
All our employees are already vaccinated against COVID-19.
Additionally:

° We adhere strictly to Singapore government’s directives on
COVID-19 precautions.

° We regularly test our logistics team for COVID-19 infection and
sanitise working areas and delivery trucks to avoid shut down of
our operations.

° We maintain close communication with our vendors to ensure
continuous supply of tissue products.

° We monitor operating cost and administration expenses closely.

° We have unutilised banking facilities of $3,500,000 on standby.

PROSPECTS

COVID-19 continues to evolve. Singapore government is prepared.
The latest COVID-19 vaccines are quickly available. COVID-19
healthcare protocols are well established.

We are confident in growing our revenue because tissue products are
daily necessities.

Over the past 45 years, we have built strong ties with customers and
suppliers. We provide quality products to our customers and maintain
product delivery satisfaction.

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quallity tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt %5 [ B
Revenue g
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
BEEER FEEHBER Hitt @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r Fr Tr Tr
Relevant Year EHEE
Revenue from external customers KEIMEE PRz R
and reportable segment revenue A2RH PR 13,013 894 689 14,596
Segment profit kYl 3,929 369 236 4534
Previous Year t-FE
Revenue from external customers KEIMEE PRz R
and reportable segment revenue BEEGile 10,579 878 563 12,020
Segment profit AR 2,343 332 107 2,782

The revenue for the Relevant Year was $14.6 million, representing an
increase of $2.6 million or 21.4% against the Previous Year revenue
of $12.0 million.

In the Previous Year, existing COVID-19 restrictions on commercial
activities were lifted in the middle of the financial year, whereupon
commercial activities gradually recovered. During the Relevant Year,
no COVID-19 restrictions were imposed and commercial activities
were normal. This resulted in customers ordering more quantities of
tissue products, contributing to an increase in revenue.

° Sales of tissue products increased by $2.4 million, representing
an increase of 23.0%. This was due to normal commercial
activities without any COVID-19 restrictions.

° Sales of hygiene-related products increased by $16,000,
representing a slight increase of 1.8%.

° Sales of other products increased by $126,000, representing
an increase of 22.4%.

° Throughout the Relevant Year, we adjusted our selling prices to
match the cost of inventory as we adopt a cost-plus pricing

policy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales increased from $9.2 million to $10.1 million from the
Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing an increase of 8.9%.
The overall increase in cost of sales corresponded with the increase
in revenue.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased from $2.8 million to $4.5 million from the
Previous Year to the Relevant Year. Gross profit margin increased
from 23.1% to 31.1% from the Previous Year to the Relevant Year,
representing an increase of 800 basis points. This is due to regular
price adjustments.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased from $1.5 million to $1.7
million from the Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing an
increase of 19.6%. This increase corresponded with the increase in
revenue.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased from $1.4 million to $2.0 million
from the Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing an increase
of 40.2%. This is mainly due to salary adjustments which were largely
restricted during COVID-19.

Taxation

In 2019, construction commenced for the extension of the existing
factory building. However, capital allowance for the extension of the
existing factory building was approved only in 2022. This resulted in
adjustments to the tax estimates and changes to the deferred
taxation of prior financial years in the Relevant Year and in the
Previous Year.

Results for the Year
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company was $650,000 in the
Relevant Year, increased from $260,000 in the Previous Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had total assets of $20.3
million (Previous Year: $19.2 million), which was financed by total
liabilities of $3.5 million (Previous Year: $2.8 million) and shareholders’
equity (comprising share capital, share premium and reserves) of
$16.8 million (Previous Year: $16.4 million). The current ratio of the
Group at the end of the Relevant Year was 2.6 times (Previous Year:
2.8 times). During the Relevant Year, cash and bank balances were
used for purchase of machinery.

Trade debtor and trade creditor turnover in the Relevant Year were
57.6 days (Previous Year: 57.3 days) and 26.3 days (Previous Year:
25.3 days) respectively.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had cash and bank
balances of $1.7 million (Previous Year: $0.8 million) which were
placed with major banks in Singapore and Hong Kong. The cash and
bank balances were mainly denominated in SGD.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had no outstanding loans
(Previous Year: $9,000). The gearing ratio (calculated based on net
debt divided by total capital plus net debt, whereby net debt
comprises borrowings, trade and other payables and lease liability,
less cash and cash equivalents) of the Group at the end of the
Relevant Year was 0.2% (Previous Year: 5.2%).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group transacts mainly in SGD, which is the functional currency
of all the Group’s operating subsidiaries. The Group is of the opinion
that its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Nevertheless,
the management monitors closely the Group’s foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other
plans for material investments or capital assets as at the end of the
Relevant Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

In the Relevant Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Significant Investments Held
The Group did not hold any significant investments in the Relevant
Year (Previous Year: nil).

Contingent Liabilities
At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (Previous Year: nil).

Capital Commitments

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group committed to capital
expenditure of $0.1 million (Previous Year: $0.3 million) for the
purchase of production machineries.

Employee and Remuneration Policy
At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had an aggregate of 37
employees (Previous Year: 28).

The employees of the Group are remunerated according to their job
scope and responsibilities. All employees are also entitled to
discretionary bonus depending on their respective performance. The
details are set out under the section headed “Emolument Policy” of
this annual report.

Total staff costs in the Relevant Year, including Directors’
emoluments, amounted to $2.5 million (Previous Year: $2.1 million).

The Group did not experience any significant problem with our
employees or disruptions to our operations due to labour disputes,
nor did the Group experience any difficulty in the recruitment and
retention of experienced employees. The Group continues to maintain
a good relationship with our employees.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme, details are set
out under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report. The Group also provides and arranges on-the-job training for
the employees.

Charge on Group Assets
The bank borrowings were secured by the Group’s building on
leasehold land and a corporate guarantee from the Company.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the Share Offer of $4.6 million were fully utilized by
30.9.2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES
WITH ACTUAL PROGRESS

During the Relevant Year, the conversion line for the production of
jumbo roll tissues was upgraded. Jumbo roll tissues are produced
using this upgraded conversion line.

As at 30.9.2023, there has not yet been material progress in respect
of the business objectives related to the commercial production of
hand towels set out in the Prospectus. During the Relevant Year, the
machine was tested and the manufacturer was requested to upgrade
the machine to the latest technical specifications.

The following is a comparison of the Group’s business objectives as
set out in the Prospectus and the Announcement with actual
progress for the Relevant Year.
Implementation plan Scheduled activities for
as disclosed in Prospectus  the Relevant Year as disclosed
and subsequently adjusted  in the Prospectus

in the Announcement and the Announcement

EREREEREENLEER

REBFE LEXRERFEERNBRETR
T o RERFERRERERATMNERGE
EEHY o

M20283F9A30R - AR ERME A AKTF
MEELEENEBBEEMS  AAERER - R
ERFE  BBCEIAH W B REEREFK
BARESTEITIRE -

NTRERERMZASHAAEENELEF
HERFECEREROLR -

Actual activities achieved for the Relevant Year

BAREBMEERHEANZDY BREBRZDEIRER
EHENERTE EHEENEERES REBFENERES
Upgrade our conversion line for e Commercial production of o Conversion line for the production of jumbo roll

the production of jumbo roll jumbo roll tissues by the

tissues upgraded conversion line
AREERGREEANER o AARNERGEREERS
" R

Acquire a new production line e Commercial production of hand

for the production of hand towels
towels
BE-RAEEREERTFH o KFABELE o

Extension of existing factory J Completion of factory extension

building and purchase lifting o Purchased lifting equipment
equipment (Note)
BRAAIBAER .

BEREERE (M)

THERTT .
EERERE

tissues upgraded. Commercial production of jumbo
roll tissues by the upgraded conversion line
commenced.
HERGREEANERRART - AARNER
BAGRFHEACDEFREEEE -

The machine was tested and the manufacturer was
requested to upgrade the machine to the latest
technical specifications.

BBECEXADR  TEREFERBITREST
R R

Completed.

ot
H

Note: As disclosed in the Announcement, the Board resolved to utilise the net
proceeds originally allocated for the investment in an additional factory
building to the extension of the existing factory building. For details,
please refer to the Announcement.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGREEEZN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chua Liang Sie, aged 64, is our executive Director, Chairman and
chief executive officer of our Company, who joined our Group in July
1982. He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee. He was appointed as our Director on
21.9.2017, and was re-designated as our executive Director and was
also appointed as our Chairman and chief executive officer on
30.10.2017. Mr. LS Chua is also a director of certain subsidiaries. Mr. LS
Chua is responsible for formulating the overall strategies and planning of
our Group. Mr. LS Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LS Chua has over 40 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. In July 1982, Mr. LS Chua joined
Sunlight Paper as production manager, where he was responsible for
the production of conventional roll tissue, and was also appointed as
a director of Sunlight Paper. He became the managing director of
Sunlight Paper in February 1990 and since then, he is responsible for
the business strategies, planning and management of Sunlight Paper.
Mr. LS Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in 1975.

Mr. LS Chua is the elder brother of Mr. LC Chua, and the father of
Mr. WH Chua and Mr. WJ Chua.

Mr. Chua Liang Chui, aged 62, is our executive Director and sales
director, who joined our Group in July 1982. He was appointed as
Director on 21.9.2017 and was redesignated as our executive
Director on 30.10.2017. Mr. LC Chua is also a director of certain
subsidiaries. He is responsible for sales and marketing of our Group.
Mr. LC Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LC Chua has over 40 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. Mr. LC Chua joined Sunlight Paper
as logistics manager and was appointed as a director of Sunlight
Paper in July 1982. In October 1996, he was promoted to be
warehouse manager, and he served as sales manager in Sunlight
Paper from October 2006 to September 2010. Since October 2010,
Mr. LC Chua has been the sales director of Sunlight Paper and is
responsible for sales and marketing of our products for Sunlight
Paper. Mr. LC Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in
1977.

Mr. LC Chua is the younger brother of Mr. LS Chua and uncle of Mr.
WH Chua and Mr. WJ Chua.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESERGREEE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao), aged 39, is our executive
Director and deputy chief executive officer, who joined our Group in
September 2013. He was appointed as Director on 21.9.2017. On
30.10.2017, he was re-designated as our executive Director and was
appointed as the deputy chief executive officer. Mr. WH Chua is also
a director of certain subsidiaries. He is responsible for assisting the
chief executive officer and implementing strategies of our Group.

Mr. WH Chua joined as sales manager of Sunlight Paper in
September 2013 and was responsible for sales of products for
Sunlight Paper. Prior to joining our Group, from November 2010 to
June 2012, Mr. WH Chua worked at HSBC in the HSBC Graduate
Internship Programme. Mr. WH Chua obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business management from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University in August 2010.

Mr. WH Chua is the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua
and the elder brother of Mr. WJ Chua.

Mr. Chua Wenjie (alias Cai Wenjie), aged 36, is our executive
Director and deputy sales director, who joined our Group in July
2014. He was appointed as executive Director on 9.9.2021. Mr. WJ
Chua is also a director of Sunlight Paper. He is responsible for
assisting the sales director to implement marketing strategies of
Sunlight Paper. He is also responsible for sales of products for
Sunlight Paper.

Mr. WJ Chua joined as sales manager of Sunlight Paper in July 2014
and was responsible for sales of products for Sunlight Paper. Prior to
joining our Group, from July 2011 to June 2014, Mr. WJ Chua
worked at Hong Leong Finance Limited as branch manager. Mr. WJ
Chua obtained a bachelor honours degree in banking and finance
from the University of London (Singapore Institute of Management) in
June 2011.

Mr. WJ Chua is the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua
and the younger brother of Mr. WH Chua.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGREEEZN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie (“Mr. Ng”), aged 57, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. He is a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Ng is currently a director of ABBPE Capital Management Pte Ltd.
Mr. Ng has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
advisory services.

Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1990. He had worked in various
financial institutions as a tax officer, audit senior and investment
research analyst.

Mr. Tog Chek Soon (“Mr. Tog”), aged 57, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 27.11.2020. He is a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Tog is currently the Asia Sales Director of AMETEK Singapore Pte
Ltd. He has over 30 years of experience in the sale and marketing of
electrical components and equipment. Mr. Tog obtained a bachelor
of engineering (electrical) from the National University of Singapore in
June 1989, a graduate diploma in marketing from the Marketing
Institute of Singapore in May 1992 and a degree of master of
business administration from Cranfield University School of
Management in June 1994.

Mr. Tog is experienced in business culture across Asia by marketing
electrical components and equipment from European and American
manufacturers to customers in Asia including the ASEAN countries,
Australia, China, India, Japan and New Zealand.

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (“Ms. Lye”), aged 56, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. She is the
chairlady of our Audit Committee.

Ms. Lye is currently a director of Youngone International Asia Pte Ltd.
Ms. Lye has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
finance. Ms. Lye had worked as, among others, audit senior,
accountant, finance and administration manager, financial controller
and finance and administration director in various institutions.

Ms. Lye obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1989, and became a Chartered
Accountant of Singapore in April 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESERGREEE[N

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Choy Tuck Leong (“Mr. Choy”), aged 58, joined our Group in

July 2017 and is our chief financial officer and company secretary.
Mr. Choy is responsible for overseeing the overall corporate and
financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Choy has approximately 35 years of experience in audit and
corporate finance. Mr. Choy obtained a bachelor’s degree of
accountancy from The National University of Singapore in June 1988.
He is a member and a fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants since December 1992 and
November 2004, respectively. He is also a fellow certified public
accountant of CPA Australia since January 2010.

Ms. See Ai Kiok (“Ms. See”), aged 63, joined our Group in October
2009 as accounts executive. Ms. See is the head of human resources
of Sunlight Paper since October 2014. She is responsible for human
resources, accounts and administrative matters. Ms. See has over 30
years of experience in accounting and human resources. She
completed the London Chamber of Commerce and Industry
International Qualifications course in 1980.

Mr. Goh Kuang Song (“Mr. Goh”), aged 58, joined our Group as
warehouse manager in December 1993. Mr. Goh is the head of
logistics of Sunlight Paper since October 2006. Mr. Goh, has over 30
years of experience in logistics and is responsible for managing
warehouse and logistics matters.

Mr. Yong Ning Choy (“Mr. Yong”), aged 52, joined our Group as
machine operator in June 1998 and he is the head of production of
Sunlight Paper since October 2007. Mr. Yong has over 25 years of
experience in production and is responsible for overseeing production
of our tissue products.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. WH Chua is our compliance officer. He is also an executive
Director. Please see “Executive Directors” section for Mr. WH Chua’s
qualifications and experience.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERERS

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”)
contained in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

This report covers the social and environment aspects of the ESG
Guide. The governance aspect of the ESG Guide is addressed in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

This report covers our delivery of tissue products to customers in
Singapore and the production of jumbo roll tissue in our factory in
Singapore in the Relevant Year carried out by Sunlight Paper.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

We applied the following principles in the preparation of this report:

Materiality

We engage with our stakeholders to identify and assess ESG issues
that matter most from their perspectives. We access the materiality of
these ESG issues based on the corresponding risks posed on the
sustainability on the Group’s business.

Quantitative

Where applicable, we provided information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and
source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/
energy consumption disclosed in the respective sections in this
report.

Balance

We avoided intentional selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that might inappropriately influence a decision or judgment to provide
an unbiased picture of our performance.

Consistency
We applied consistent methodologies to allow for meaningful
comparisons of ESG data over time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board Statement

We recognise our corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) to society.
Consequently, our Board oversees ESG issues.

ESG issues are identified and evaluated for material risks posed to
the Group. Once identified, the Board neutralizes the risks from these
material ESG-related issues.

We integrate social and environmental aspects into our daily
operations where practicable whilst balancing the cost of such
integration against tangible returns.

Management Approach and Strategy

We established a team led by an executive Director to determine ESG
issues. The team compiles ESG issues which are (a) identified
internally from our operations, and (b) collated externally from our
stakeholders. The team evaluates the identified ESG issues.

Our Board sets parameters for the team to prioritise the ESG issues
in terms of risk to the Group’s business. Data from these material
ESG risks is gathered and KPIs are created to set practicable targets.
The team manages these material ESG risks by regularly monitoring
the KPIs against the targets.

The team also sets environmental goals and social goals for the
sustainability of the Group’s business.

Progress Review
The team updates our Board regularly with the status of achieving the
KPI targets, the environmental goals and the social goals.

Meanwhile, our Board continues to monitor the risks posed to the
Group from these material ESG issues. As business continues to
evolve, our Board is on the constant look out for new ESG issues.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERERS

OUR STRATEGY

Sustainability of ESG aspects is important to long-term value creation
for our stakeholders. We identify environmental and social
responsibilities as our core commitments. We play our part to
contribute to the communities where our employees and customers
work and live.

Our strategy to fulfil our environmental and social responsibilities is
through achievements of environmental and social goals in our daily
operations.

Goals

We integrate environmental and social considerations into our

business objectives to achieve:

Environmental goals:
° Add environmentally friendly elements in our daily operations;

° Use energy and resources efficiently;

° Reduce greenhouse gas emissions; and

° Continuously improve waste management

Social goals:

° Respect employees’ rights and promote an equal opportunity

workplace;

° Commit to occupational safety and health, and endeavour to
provide a safe and healthy workplace;

o Commit to ethical business practices, and build integrity within
the workplace; and

° Support community participation
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

OUR STRATEGY (Continued)

Approach

We execute our environmental and social strategy to achieve its
related goals through a series of actions and commitments:

° Embed environmental and social goals into business processes
including decision making process;

° Formulate and document environmental and social policies for
management and staff members to follow;

° Comply with environmental and social laws and regulations;
° Report our performance on a balanced picture;
o Disclose KPIs as measurement of actual results;

° Ensure appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control systems are in place; and

° Practise corporate citizenship

We established a team to develop environmental and social policies.
The team monitors, manages, recommends and reports on ESG
matters. This is to ensure that potentially harmful occupational health
and safety, environmental and social effects are properly assessed,
addressed and monitored.

ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS

We maintain an open and honest relationship with our stakeholders.
Continuous communication enables us to consider how our business
decisions impact our stakeholders. The table below presents our
communication methods with our stakeholders.
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ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

BEHESHE )

Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication
B4 EHE B BESOE BEARA
Investors e Shareholders e Corporate website
e Routine reports
e Annual general meeting
e Announcements and disclosures
"EE o RE o (DEMUL
o fliTHRE
o BRERBRFKREG
o RNERWE
Employees e Senior Management e Training and conferences
e Staff e Face-to-face meetings
e Potential recruits e Periodic interviews
e (SR and volunteering activities
== o EAREEE o IEIINEEHE
e BT o M
o ZErES o TEHImEA
o BEMBEAREILEY
Customers e Facility management and cleaning e Customer assessment
contractors e Product presentation
e Sourcing agencies e Designated customer hotline
* Private organisations
s o HHEEIERIBRANR o EPFFHE
o IREEMIE o EmMBEX
o ThAMRE o HPHEK
Suppliers e Tissue suppliers e Supplier assessment
* Materials suppliers e Quality and delivery review
e Transportation providers e Factory visits
Hrem o BHEGEERS o fHpEREETL
o MEMHtIER o HERRfESE
o EHIEMHAE e FFHIM
Government e Government agencies e Written correspondence
e Regulators e Ad-hoc meetings
IEge) o INTHEER o EMEEX
o EEME o FRlEE
Community e National and local community e Industrial events
organisations e  Seminar
e CSR activities
Zanl o ZENEMIMRAL o TEEE
o HiE
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R HERERERS

ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

We engaged our management and employees who are usually in
communication with our stakeholders to identify material ESG issues.
Through this approach, we identified areas for improvement in our
daily operations to achieve environmental and social goals.

During the Relevant Year, no material ESG issues arose from our
engagement with stakeholders.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

We acknowledge our responsibility to protect the environment. As
such, we have integrated environmental considerations into our
business operations, including but not limited to improving our
environmental practices through minimising pollution, utilising energy
efficiently and reducing waste in our daily operations.

During the Relevant Year, commercial production of jumbo roll tissues
commenced. This is reflected in our electricity consumption.

Emission Control

Due to the nature of our operations and the existing measures
spearheaded by Singapore government agencies to protect the
environment, there are limited actions within our control that could
effectively and meaningfully improve the environment. We are of the
opinion that our actions have met our goals during the Relevant Year.

In Singapore, the National Environment Agency (“NEA”) is the leading
public organisation responsible for ensuring a clean and green
environment, including air pollution from emission with emphasis on
sulphur dioxide.

The main source of sulphur dioxide emission in Singapore is industries
such as refineries and power stations. Motor vehicles (both petrol and
diesel) contribute only 0.1% to total sulphur dioxide emission.
Nevertheless, NEA mandated the supply of cleaner petrol for motor
vehicles with sulphur content lower than 0.001% with effect from July
2017 and the sale of new petrol and diesel vehicles to meet EURO VI
emission standard with effect from September 2017 and January
2018 respectively.

In our delivery operations, we generate emission from our diesel
trucks when we deliver products to our customers. In view of the
abatement measures by NEA and the miniscule impact of motor
vehicle emission to the overall air pollution in Singapore, we do not
monitor emission from our delivery activities.
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MEMMRARRER -
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ERRERMNEERL -
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AR EBAHAK

N — LB HER e £ E AR AR M R % E
UHEITE o RE (U REH) B | biiask
WMERO01% - BEWIL - IRFER/ TS E2017EF
TARRAERETRE2EN0.001% K524
M WD RIE2017F9 AR 2018 1 ARRHER
SRS ERBE IR R R SR B o

EHMNMERRES  ERMAATPNEESR
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PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Instead, it is more practical to monitor fuel consumption against
quantity of products delivered and number of deliveries. With data
collected over a certain duration, we can determine meaningful targets.

In our office and factory, we generate GHG emission from use of
electricity. In Singapore, electricity is supplied by the government and
we have no control over the source of electricity generation.
Consequently, we do not monitor GHG emission as a KPI. Instead,
we monitor our electricity consumption by kWh.

Our executives travel overseas for business purposes on scheduled
flights by commercial airlines. These scheduled flights contribute to
air pollution via GHG emission. Our decision to travel or not to travel
does not alter such scheduled flights in anyway whatsoever.
Consequently, we do not monitor GHG emission from our air travel.

Waste Management
Hazardous waste
Our operations do not produce hazardous waste.

Non-hazardous waste
The non-hazardous waste we produced in the Relevant Year are:

° Packaging materials, principally carton boxes 415 tonnes
(Previous Year: 374 tonnes) — sold to recyclable waste
collectors by our customers.

° Waste from production activities 10 tonnes (Previous Year: nil) —
sold to recyclable waste collector.

° General waste from daily activities — collected by a private
contractor weekly at a fixed fee. No KPI is available.

Packaging materials, principally carton boxes, represent our main
non-hazardous waste. Carton boxes are necessary to maintain
hygiene standards of our tissue products. It is not possible to reduce
packaging materials and consequently, we do not set reduction
targets.

We are of the opinion that our actions have met our goals during the
Relevant Year.
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PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Green Office Measures

We adopt the 3R concept of “reduce, reuse and recycle”. Green
reminders are communicated to our employees to cultivate their
awareness of environmental protection in daily operations.

We have measures to enhance energy saving. In office, we encourage
the use of electronic devices in our daily operations; we set the air-
conditioning temperatures at an environment-friendly level; we switch
off all lighting and air-conditioning if not in use; and we install motion-
sensor lighting where applicable to avoid energy wastage.

Water consumption is for drinking and sanitation purposes and
consequently, we do not set efficiency targets. Water is supplied by

the government. Our water consumption is minimal.

We are of the opinion that our actions have met our goals during the
Relevant Year.

Resources Consumption:

ﬁ%a%ﬁ)
LR PN TETE
B PIRF [RE - B RIEEERA] H3RES -

e B EEeEREEER AREKPHRE

= A
s
N

BAIE — R ANRET L RER - RPFAE -
BN AREEETERAE TR 1% EAE SRS
R E ERIRKTE %Fﬁf‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁ)ﬂﬁ”
ARzZ=R RMEEENH ZEKEBRER
GRERRE o

F/KRERRSEAMELEER - RtHFIRERE

W B o FUKMBRE - ROOAKRED -
BMRE WERFE  RARANTHEER
AtE-

BIRERE -

KPI Relevant Year Previous Year
FREENIEE EREE F—FE
m?d m?3

MK K

Water consumption B/KE -* 1,021
Per employee BEES -* 36
kWh’000 kWh’000

FEF R TFEF B s

Electricity consumption HEs 118 65
litre litre

H vai

Diesel consumption FA%5m 33,405 34,482
Per 1,000 delivery orders FTExXEE 1,776 1,916
Per 1,000 units delivered BT EEREX 61 74

*

No accurate data available because the water meter supplied by the
government was not operating properly for an extended period.

We are not aware of any cases of non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our operations in relation
to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and onto the land,
or generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

* BT HER KRR BIRAEIE R & - AR

HERERIE
HPSMAANBEFAEREERREREIR
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2023 ik / B¥ (1977)

ZRARARA 25



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERERS

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT (Continued) RE&
TR

Climate Change

We carry out risk analysis to determine the positive and negative
impacts of climate change on our operations, and the likelihood that
such impacts would occur. We set parameters and provide resources
to identify significant climate-related issues and mitigate their impacts.

We identified the following significant climate-related issues which

may impact our operations.

Significant climate-related issues
EARBGHASE

=R -

Impact to our operations

HRMBENTE

=2

HAPIREE T A TN AT A

BRIR (@)

B (TR S AT IR B BB R 0
HFMBHE
RESBUREERRBR R EATRANEE
THEEYE -

C REBEEWEZENR RN o B

e

e B IFHRIEMNERRIEN

Likelihood of impact
HE TR

Our location — our factory is
5m above sea level.

FAPIRELE — T AFTH) TR

Our product — tissue is
fundamentally made
from wood pulp.

BMIMED — SMERE
R ARAR R RIAX o

Our delivery — we deliver to
customers via our fleet of trucks.

B — RPERBRFIN
REBHFRFPRNM -

Our supply — we purchase from
suppliers located overseas.

BAIHE — AR
BIMNO R R RS -

During the Relevant Year, there were no significant climate-related
issues which have impacted our operations.

BB K o

If sea level rises, our factory
could be submerged.

MBS FE LT

B TR ATBE G HIRR ©

If temperature rises or falls,
trees may not survive, leading to
loss of wood pulp.
MRRE EF T
BIARF B EETE
BEURMEERL -

If sea level rises, roads may be
flooded, thus impeding delivery.

MRGFE LT - EERAESEE
R g ES -

Our suppliers may be affected by
climate change such as flooding.

BRI HER A X

4
HRERRELNTE

£H-
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Very unlikely — sea level is
not expected to increase
5m due to climate change.
PR e —RIEZ{ TR EFE
PIEERIR NS RAK o

Very unlikely — trees grow in
extensive temperature ranges.

o0

AAREE — %*T?IKEE%EFF )

o JE #[E]

i

E

Minimal impact — Singapore roads
are well elevated and drained.
Additionally, our trucks can
bypass the affected roads
via alternate routes.

FER/ — EAMINEERSSEM
PR RAF o Bboh - FAIEY
REAARBERERER
R BB -

High likelihood — We mitigate this
risk by purchasing from
various suppliers spread
over a few countries.
ARt — BfRBIE D HTE
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment Standards and Well-being

Our employees are valuable assets and our success is underpinned
by our people. We provide attractive remuneration packages, and a
fair and harmonious working environment to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of our employees. Our human resource policies
outline our compensation, working hours, rest periods and other
benefits and welfare, which comply with laws and regulations. We
attract qualified applicants by offering competitive remuneration
packages based on prevailing market conditions.

A staff handbook is in place so that employees are aware of the
goals, policies and procedures of the Group as well as their
responsibilities. The staff handbook is updated when necessary.

We comply with (a) the Employment Act (Cap. 91) of Singapore which
is the key legislation governing basic terms and conditions of
employment and the rights and obligations of both employers and
employees; and (b) the Employment of Children and Young Persons
Regulations which govern the work that children and young persons
can do.

We comply with the rule and regulations on the employment of
foreign workers as stipulated by the Ministry of Manpower of
Singapore (“MOM”), such as the Employment of Foreign Manpower
Act (Cap. 91A) and the Employment of Foreign Manpower (Work
Passes) Regulations 2012. We recognise the importance of a fair and
harmonious working environment and adhere to the principle of equal
opportunities by following the Tripartite Guidelines on Fair
Employment Practices which are formulated by the Tripartite Alliance
for Fair and Progressive Employment Practices.

We endeavour to create a workplace based on respect for human
rights and where our employees are free to practise their beliefs and
preferences.

During the Relevant Year, we are not aware of any cases of non-
compliance with Singapore’s employment laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on our operations.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES EBEESIER®
(Continued)
Total Workforce BEEBH

During the Relevant Year, all our employees are located in Singapore.  RBRBEEE @ RANDEREE BRI - B
At the end of the Relevant Year, we had 37 (Previous Year: 28) ful- HAEEER BRHBITEZ(L—FEF 284)2
time employees. Although the ratio of female to male employees is BtEE - X BR E th 50481 ( L —F & :
0.48:1 (Previous Year: 0.27:1), this is observed to be an industry  0.27:1) * [bA¥ AN » BE IR RIERE
norm and does not conflict with our anti-gender discrimination — {BEFE L @2 o

employment policy.

KPI Number of employees
BARERIERE EEAH

Relevant Year Previous Year

EREE F—FE

Gender Lzl
Female pegs 12 6
Male S 25 22
Age Group Fie Rl
Under 30 years old 30T 8 4
31 to 50 years old 312 508% 18 15
Above 51 years old 5150 E 11 9
Employee Turnover EERKER

During the Relevant Year, our employee turnover rate was 7% NAEBRFE @ BZfINEERAR /7% (L—FE:

(Previous Year: 19%). 19%) e
KPI No. of People Turnover Rate
BRENIER AE AR

Relevant Year Previous Year Relevant Year Previous Year

EEFEE —FE EREE E—FE

By Gender 1Rl
Female 7z 1 4 7% 44%
Male B 1 1 5% 6%
By Age Group RE#ERAR
Under 30 years old 30mA T 1 1 25% 33%
31-50 years old 312507 1 1 7% 7%
Above 51 years old 515 £ 0 3 0% 30%
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
(Continued)

Employee Health and Safety

We comply with the Work Injury Compensation Act (Cap. 354) and
the Workplace Safety and Health Act (Cap. 354A), which govern
health and safety of employees in Singapore.

Our operations generally do not expose our employees to high-risk
work procedures. Nevertheless, we emphasise and encourage our
employees to be vigilant and responsible for their safety and health
whilst performing their work obligations. With constant reminders and
top-down emphasis, we endeavour to provide our employees with a
safe and healthy working environment. In addition, employees are
required to report all accidents to ensure proper medical treatment
and safety precautions to prevent future recurrence.

Our comprehensive workplace safety health system is certified to
BizSAFE Level 3 by the Workplace Safety and Health Council of
Singapore.

During the Relevant Year, there were no work-related fatalities or
serious injuries, and no days were lost due to work injury. We did not
find any health and safety irregularities at our office and factory.

Development and Training

We generally hire employees with working experience relevant for
their assigned tasks hence minimal training, if any, is required. The
assigned tasks are repetitive in nature and therefore our employees
generally do not require training updates.

We encourage employees to develop or upgrade their skill sets if they
choose to do so. We would fund the cost and/or provide study leave
on a case by case basis. During the Relevant Year, no requests were
received from employees.

Our directors and senior managers continuously develop their
management knowledge and/or professional skills by attending
training courses, reading relevant materials, and participating in
conferences and exhibitions.
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OPERATION MANAGEMENT

Supply Chain Management

Supply chain management is a key area of our business, which
includes managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
We require suppliers to provide products which are FSC-certified to
ensure compliance with environmental laws and regulations.

We procure products based upon specification, quality, price and
applicable environmental considerations. For all new and existing
suppliers, we regularly visit their production facilities to witness their
operations and to check against our required specifications of the
products. During our visits, we also inquire on their environmental and
social practices, and if available, obtain a copy of their environmental
and social reports.

Our supply chain management policies and procedures include
assessment, selection, approval, procurement and performance
evaluation. Performance evaluation is based on capacity, delivery
accuracy and punctuality, service, environmental protection and
social responsibilities.

During the Relevant Year, our major suppliers are from ASEAN (2)
and China (1).

ANTI-CORRUPTION

We prohibit employees from receiving any advantages offered by
customers, suppliers, colleagues, or other parties, while they are
performing employee duties, and prohibit any activities involving
conflicts of interest, bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
Our staff handbook lays out the Group’s expectation and guiding
provisions on code of conduct. We require employees and we
encourage customers, suppliers, or other parties to report incidents
relating to any conflicts of interest, extortion, bribery, fraud and money
laundering.

We provide publications on anti-corruption practices to our directors
and senior management personnel annually, particularly before Lunar
New Year when it is common practice for the exchanges of gifts.

During the Relevant Year, there were no reports of non-compliance
incidents in relation to corruption.
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R HERERERS

CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY

We endeavour to support the communities in which we operate by
understanding their needs. We focus on the hygiene aspects of
charitable organisations in our community.

We donate our products principally to charities as and when they
request.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Guide. The
following table provides an overview on the general disclosures and
KPIs of various aspects under each subject area, which are either
cross-referenced to the relevant chapters or supplemented with
additional information.

AEHE
BIEBTRAMEERELENTS - AR
H38 - BIBDERMFEML R E S REnE
EHH -

BMEEERSRBIRE ZRFREER -

R HERERRBRG
AREDRFRE - B REAESRY - TR
Bt iEEl S T EREE T I RABEN —REER
P RCETE - YRR E SR BE iR
(ESNERIHTE -

Description Reference Remark
it 2R [
ENVIRONMENTAL
B
Aspect A1: EMISSIONS
EEA: #BH
General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Protecting the Environment
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations; that have a — emission control; waste
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and management; green office
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water measures
and land, and generation of hazardous and RERSE — SRS EDERE
non-hazardous waste BERAERE
BHBRKRERBIR - MKk
RENEEEEMNELSS  QBX: Kk
L) EFHETABEAZENRBEER
Gk Eokver
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective Emission Control
BRENIEEAL emissions data BRI
B AR B e
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emission Control
BREREEAL2 gresnhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, BRI
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)
B (BEN) kR (BE2) AERBHNE
(AWESHE) Rk (i) B R (A B E S B -
BEFREE)
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, N/A We do not generate hazardous
BRENEEALS where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of TNEA waste in our operations

production volume, per facility)
FEAREEZYES CAEHE) R (IER)
BE(WABESEN - BEREHE)

AR EY BELBEREEY
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

BE HEREARAABES(®)

Description Reference Remark
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Waste Management
BRENEEA4 and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unitof ~ EE¥IE 2
production volume, per facility)
FELRZEEDEE (UEAE) R (ER)
BE(MABEEEN - BEREHE)
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps Emission Control
BRENERALS taken to achieve them Be
RFTET I B E B R AETIEL A EM
RERE SR
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous ~ Waste Management
BREVIEEALG wastes are handled, and a description of EmER

reduction target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them

ERRRAERBEEZNNNE - KB
SN HRE B B R A E R L B R
TR

Aspect A2: USE OF RESOURCES

EEA2: ERFER

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including

Protecting the Environment

-REE energy, water and other raw materials —green office measures
BRERER(BERR  KREMRVE) RERE - BERLERE
MR
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Resources Consumption
BRENEZA21 (e.g. electricity, gas or ol in total (KWhin’000s)  BIRE#E
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility)
RENEDNERR/SMEER(NE - fh)
BREATETREHE) REE(MNBES
By - BERMGTHE)
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per Resources Consumption
BREMIEEA2.2 unit of production volume, per facility) BRHRE
BRKEREE (MABESEN  BERETHE)
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set Green Office Measures
BRENEZA23 and steps taken to achieve them BERRERE
HRPTET SRR A e B R R RERE L
BRI 25
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue Green Office Measures
BRENEEA24 in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, BERAEER

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them
HERCKEER KR LA B EMERE - AR

ST E KR B R R R R B R

REREZ R
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CHERER
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[k

Reference

2R

BRES| @)

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

Description

it

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
BRENEEA25 (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to

per unit produced
R mAAaEIRNEE
BEESMEE

(ANEEHE) B (Wi )

Aspect A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
BEA3: RERXRER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant

—-REE impacts on the environment and natural resources
RAEETAHRERARERERENTEN
Bk
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities
BRENEZAI on the environment and natural resources and

the actions taken to manage them
HAEBEDERERARERNEATE R
ERMERBBYENTY

Aspect A4: CLIMATE CHANGE
EEA4: RIEE(L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant

-REE climate-related issues which have impacted,
and those which may impact, the issuer
BRI R EHE AR TR EHETAEETYEN
ERRBERBEENIE
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues
BRENEEMA which have impacted, and those which

may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them

BB SRR HETAEEY ENERRR
BHEE  REHTE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

ERRZIER

Aspect B1: EMPLOYMENT

E@EB1: &R

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer; relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare

BEFMRRE - RERET I KSEH-

FEEE Sl &ﬁﬁu&ﬁm TBLEMN

S @BE k(b)E
Wﬁ%%&&ﬁﬂmﬁﬂ

THETABEAFE

Waste Management

BEnER

Protecting the Environment
RERE

Green Office Measures

BERRNERE

Climate Change
AlRE

Climate Change
AlEE(

Employment and Labour
Practices— employment
standards and well being

RERELRSIER - EREIR
gl
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CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

BE HEREARAABES(®)

Description Reference Remark
it 2R et
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for Total workforce
BRENEEB example, full- or part-time), age group and EE&H
geographical region.
iR EREEE (WEBAEE) « FRAER Rt
EEIDHIESEE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group Employee turnover
BRENEEB2 and geographical region EERAE
=I5 FREF Rt EEDNEERALE
Aspect B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY
BEB2: BEHEZ2
General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance ~ Employment and Labour
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have a Practices—employee
significant impact on the issuer; relating to health and safety
providing a safe working environment and ERRATIEH - EEERK
protecting employees from occupational hazards 2%
EHRMZ2TIFRERREEEREBELRS
() (@B R0 EFHETABERZEN
BEEERATINER
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred ~ N/A None
BRENEEB21 in each of the past three years including TEA it
the reporting year
BE=F(ARERFE)BERITHMARR
%
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work Injury N/A None
BRENESB22 AIGELXIERE TEA &
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Employment and Labour
BRENEEB23 measures adopted, how they are implemented Practices— employee
and monitored health and safety
HRPTRANBERREL 2180 - UEEHT EBRERAIER - BERR
REERE k&2
Aspect B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
B3 : BERIEI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Employment and Labour
—RiRE skills for discharging duties at work. Description Practices— development
of training activities and training
BHRMESRTLIEBEN B RBENER - ERREIER - BRIE
UEIED
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender N/A We hire employees with relevant
BRENEEBS3A and employee category (e.g. senior management, 1 iEHA working experience.

middle management).
RERREEER(NERERE A REEE)E
AHXFNEEADL -
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CONTENT INDEX (Continued)

BE HEREARAABES®)

Description Reference Remark

it 2R B

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per N/A We hire employees with relevant
BRENIEEBS.2 employee by gender and employee category TER working experience.

BRURIRERERS D  SRERTHZIIMN

i

Aspect B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

BEB4 : ZTER
General Disclosure

-RIKE

KPI B4.1
BRENIEEB41

KPI B4.2
BRENEEB42

Information on: () the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer; relating to
preventing child and forced labour

BEMEETREHSTH : @KE : k) ETYH
BIAREAZENARERLRNNER

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour

i BB E AR R ET RS T

Description of step taken to eliminate such

practices when discovered

WIARRERERNR BRBRBRMRRN SR

Aspect B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

BEB5: HEREE
General Disclosure

-BEE
KPI B5.1
B RENIEEBS.

KPI B5.2
BREMEEBS.2

KPI B5.3
BRENIEEBSS

Policies on managing environmental and social

risks of the supply chain
BRHEENRERE SRBEE

Number of suppliers by geographical region

e R R ERH A

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are

implemented and monitored

HRERERRERNED  FEATERENN
HEBHE  ARBEBEONBTRERDE

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and

monitored

HIABINRERSERGNRE L ERBRY

BRI ARARBBIT RER

Employment and Labour
Practices—employment
standards and well-being

RERESIEAR - EREIR
B

N/A
TEm

N/A
NEH

Supply Chain Management
HERER

Supply Chain Management
HIEHER

Supply Chain Management
HERER

Supply Chain Management
HERER

HFER AR LERRNET -

We do not engage in child labour
and forced labour.
BAYEEREIRBHST

We do not engage in child labour
and forced labour.
BEMTEEAETIREHET -

2023 F 3R/ A (1977) EBRAERLF

35



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
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BE HEREARAABES(®)

Description Reference Remark
it 2R et
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain Management
BRENEEBS4 environmentally preferable products and HrEEEE
services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored
HiUE B & ERMRE RILBHCR - MRIEERITR
ERRNE
Aspect B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
BEB6 : EmER
General Disclosure Information on: () the policies; and (b) compliance ~ N/A Tissue is for one-time use and
—REE with relevant laws and regulations that have NER immediate disposal. On its own,
a significant impact on the issuer; relating to it has negligible value and is
health and safety, advertising, labelling and generic in nature.
privacy matters relating to products and FERR—REERARIAEE -
services provided and methods of redress. HAGWEERN)  BBANE -
BHfREERNREOERSERZS B
BRERALBZENREROEN © (@ BF
RO BTHETABEATBNEBEER
BBIE &R o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped N/A
BRENIEEB6.1 subject to recalls for safety and health reasons TiEA
BEFCEXERBHTAR S REFRIEMMA
EUEES T
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints ~ N/A
BRENIEEB6.2 received and how they are dealt with TER
BRERER RRENRFEHE AREETE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and N/A
BRENIEEB6.3 protecting intellectual property rights TER
i g R R AR E R A E A B
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and N/A
BRENEEB64 recall procedures TER
HlEZRTAERERBNRER
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and N/A
BRENIEEBGS privacy policies, how they are implemented NER

and monitored
HEBEERRE RALBECE - URIEESTR

ERNE
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HERERRNARRS (®)

CONTENT INDEX (Continued)
Description Reference Remark
it 2R et
Aspect B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION
EBEB7: RES
General Disclosure Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance Anti-Corruption
—-REE with relevant laws and regulations that have REBIHE
a significant impact on the issuer; relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B EES 9% BFRTREN  @BE
RO ETHRITABEAY ENRREER
RBIEER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt ~ N/A None
BRENIEEBT practices brought against the issuer or its TEH i
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases
Fﬁiﬂmﬁ¥ﬁAiﬁﬁ REVEEENET
FARMMEE RFDER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-Corruption
BRENEEBRT.2 blowing procedures, how they are implemented R &5 T1F
and monitored
B SR RERER  UREERTRER
Pap
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided Anti-Corruption
BRENEEBTS to directors and staff REFIE

Bl mESRE TRANREFE

Aspect B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
EEBS: HERE
General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests

BEMHE2ERTRETASEMELRFZEMN
RREEBIDHELERMERZNHE

KPI B8.1
BRENIEEBS.

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)

EIERERE (WHE
@5 e - #8F)

BHEE STER.

KPI B8.2
BRENEEBRS.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to
the focus area

EFIREMPRER(NeEIBmR)

Caring for the Community

B

Caring for the Community

BOHR

Caring for the Community
B
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential for
efficient and effective management of our business to safeguard the
interest of our stakeholders and achieve the highest return for our
Shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the CG
Code. The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the Relevant Year, to ensure that the
Group’s business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner, save for the deviation from
Code Provision C.2.1 as explained in the paragraph “Chairman and
Chief Executive”.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
GOVERNANCE

Corporate Strategy, Business Model and Culture
The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board which assumes the responsibility of leadership and control of
the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board sets the Group’s purpose, establishes its values, and
formulates both short term and long-term strategies whilst ensuring
that these purpose, values, and strategies are aligned with the Group’s
corporate culture. All Directors promote the Group’s corporate culture
by acting with integrity and leading by example. The Board sets
directions for the Group to act lawfully, ethically, and responsibly to
instil and continually reinforce the Group’s corporate culture.

The Board also assumes the responsibilities for maintaining high
standard of corporate governance, including among others, reviewing
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, and
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The performance of the Group in the Relevant Year was in line with
the short term and long-term strategies formulated by the Board and
did not deviate from the Group’s purpose and established values. A
detailed discussion and analysis of the Group’s strategy to fulfil and
achieve its purpose are set out in section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREABE

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
GOVERNANCE (Continued)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties. The Board assigned this responsibility to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee develops and puts in place policies and
practices to ensure compliance with the provisions of the CG Code,
for the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management, for the compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.

During the Relevant Year, the Board has through the Audit Committee
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance as well as the corporate governance report contained in
this annual report in the discharge of its corporate governance
functions, ensuring compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has established the Board Committees with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with the Committees’
authority and duties. Details of the respective Committees’ terms of
reference are available at the respective websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board for significant
transactions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition, Succession and Evaluation

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised seven
Directors of which four are executive Directors and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board
is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Chairman)

Mr. Chua Liang Chui

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao)
Mr. Chua Wenjie (alias Cai Wenijie)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie

Mr. Tog Chek Soon

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia

TEBEW -  FBERER®

EEIRBEE

ERZEENEERAREEBNEIIRFES
RURR  BTEARNERBREFELEHERR
KER - ARERETEEREE TR

REBFERN  EFSABITHLEE AR -
BiERBRZEESEHNANANDEE AR R
B URAFRAAFHEEE ARE  BIRE
SFGEM _ETTAR A ©

EFEECRUEFELEE S ALREER
REE BEWATSZEGNEN MBS - &
EEeZBenNBREEFBINNRARE R
RSP & -

=
z B

WIEEREREREREAARAEEANEE
B TREEEIE SESTHBRMFRL
OB TIEER - BARSAREEHES
AT -

B

BEEEHEK - BERFX
RAGRAH EFTMCREFAR  EHN
ERNTES  —AABIFNTES - EFR
AT B AR

BTES
BERBELE(XE)
BRBELE
BEUERE
BEORELE

BYFHITES
EXREE
BEENEsE L
RIpERL
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition, Succession and Evaluation
(Continued)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report.

The family relationship between the Directors (where applicable) are
set out under the respective names of the Directors in the section
headed “Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual
report. Save for such relationship disclosed in the section headed
“Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual report,
there is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the members of the Board.

Throughout the Relevant Year and to the date of this report, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

At the end of the Relevant Year, none of the independent non-
executive Directors have served for more than 9 years.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements set out in Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

Roles and Responsibility of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
which includes controlling resources allocation within the Group and
leading the Group to strive for success. It oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management
and performances.

The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board
to the management include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim
and annual reports and announcements for the Board’s approval
before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures; and (3) compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Roles and Responsibility of the Board (Continued)

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

Board/Board Committee Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Company, and to
review and approve the Company’s quarterly, interim and annual
results. During these meetings, the Board also evaluates its own
performance, including but not limited to, ensuring that each Director
had been devoting sufficient time and made contributions to the
Company that are commensurate with their respective roles and
responsibilities on the Board and committees. Regular Board
meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to facilitate
maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice is given
for a regular Board meeting. All Directors are given an opportunity to
include matters for discussion in the agenda, and to attend the
meeting in person or virtually. The company secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply with all
applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying
board papers are normally sent to Directors at least three days before
the intended date of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to Directors for their comment before being
tabled at the next Board meeting for approval. The minutes are kept
by the company secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

To ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
each Director is authorised to seek independent professional advice
at the Company’s expenses without any recourse whatsoever and
such advice may be tabled in a meeting without any restrictions. The
implementation and effectiveness of this mechanism is reviewed by
the Board annually. The Board reviewed this mechanism in the
Relevant Year and considered that the mechanism remains effective.

BEEgw)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) BEEgwm

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee BEERLZEENELFERLE
Members

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Committee MNAEBFEASTEEHFEETGNTEGERN
meetings and at the AGM during the Relevant Year are as follows: MR A F RGN T

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
HE/ AERERERNAR

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Director Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
= EEg ENZES FMWEEE REEZEE RRATAE
Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBLL 44 NATER 11 il 11
Mr. Chua Liang Chui ERPRE 4/4  N/ATER NATER  NATER 1/1
Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) %30 4% 4 44 N/ATGER NATER  NATEA i
Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenjie) — Z A%k 4% 4/4  NATER NATER  NATER 11
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

Directors

Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie ENREE 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 11
Mr. Tog Chek Soon mEElELEE 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 1/1
Ms. Lye Kneng Joke Sylvia RIRER L 4/4 4/4 NATER  NATER 11

Total meeting(s) held during the REEFERNRTH
Relevant Year R 4 4 1 1 1

42 SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREABE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association and the
nomination policy of the Company. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors based on the nomination policy and Board diversity
policy. Details of the Company’s nomination policy is set out in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” of this report.

At the point of acceptance of appointment, each Director was able to
give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

The executive Directors have entered into service agreements with
the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date and/or the appointment date, respectively and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing sent by either party to the other.

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing
Rules, other legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
business and governance policies.

BEEE )
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ABERANRAARRABRITAEEREEZE
BERENBENEFLBIE - REZEGAERE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development (Continued)

Directors are aware of Code Provision C.1.4 regarding continuing
professional development programme for directors. Every director is
required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a Director and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

During the Relevant Year, all the Directors, namely Mr. LS Chua, Mr.
LC Chua, Mr. WH Chua, Mr. WJ Chua, Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie,
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia and Mr. Tog Chek Soon have continued
their professional development by attending conferences and/or
internal training as regards corporate governance, laws, regulations
and the GEM Listing Rules, and/or reading materials in the above
areas and materials relevant to their duties, responsibilities and the
Group’s business in order to develop, refresh and update their
knowledge and skills.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. LS Chua is our Chairman and
also the chief executive officer of our Company. Since February 1990,
Mr. LS Chua has been the key leadership figure of our Group who
has been primarily involved in the formulation of business strategies
and determination of the overall direction of our Group. He is also
responsible for overseeing our Group’s operations and directly
supervises our senior management. Having considered that (i) Mr. LS
Chua’s contribution and familiarity with the operations of our Group
which is beneficial to the management and business development of
our Group, (i) major decisions are made in consultation with members
of the Board and relevant Board committees, and (i) there are three
independent non-executive Directors on our Board offering
independent perspectives, our Board is of the view that there is an
appropriate balance of powers and authorities between our Board
and the management of our Company and that it is in the interest of
our Group to have Mr. LS Chua to continue taking up both roles. Our
Board will continue to review and consider separation of the roles of
the Chairman and the chief executive officer as and when appropriate
by taking into account the circumstances of our Group as a whole.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors are appointed for an initial term of three
years subject to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in
the relevant letters of appointment.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three Board Committees. Each Committee
has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
Committee members are empowered to make decisions on matters
within their respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

We have established an Audit Committee on 21.3.2018 in compliance
with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of our
Audit Committee include (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) reviewing
and supervising the financial statements and material advice in
respect of financial reporting; (iii) overseeing internal control
procedures and corporate governance of our Company; and (iv)
supervising internal control and risk management systems of our
Group. At the end of the Relevant Year, the Audit Committee consists
of three members comprising all independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie, Mr. Tog Chek Soon
and Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (chairlady of Audit Committee).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Relevant Year. A
summary of the work of the Audit Committee during the Relevant
Year is set out as follows:

° reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group;

° reviewed the financial statements, quarterly, interim and annual
reports as well as significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them;

° (i) reviewed and monitored the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity, and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards, and (ii)
discussed with the independent auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
reporting obligation;

° reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company and its subsidiaries; and

° provided recommendations to the Board for the proposal for
reappointment of the independent auditor of the Company and
approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor.

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of the independent auditor.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in

the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee
Members” of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Remuneration Committee on 21.3.2018 in
compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of our Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of our Group; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; (i) reviewing other remuneration-related matters,
including benefits-in-kind and other compensation payable to our
Directors and senior management; and (iv) reviewing performance
based remunerations and establishing a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policies. At the end of the
Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow
Freddie (chairman of Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Tog Chek
Soon.

The Group’s remuneration policy is structured to attract and retain
high quality staff and to enable smooth operation. The Group offered
competitive remuneration packages which considered factors such
as corporate result, individual capability and performance, salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions. The remuneration packages are subject
to review on a regular basis.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
eligible persons, details are set out under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this annual report.

Independent non-executive Directors receive an agreed fixed fee.
Their remuneration does not include any equity-based element (such
as share option scheme) nor any performance-related element.

During the Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee held a
meeting to review, among others, assess the performance and
remuneration package of the executive Directors and senior
management.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management
depends on their employment contracts and includes basic salary
and performance bonus. Pursuant to paragraph E.1.5 of the CG
Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) by band for the Relevant Year is set out
below:

A8 B

Remuneration band

FMEEE W)
ERERERBNHFWIARELBEAL LB
BEEATEREBRLM - RECLEATIE
E158 REBFEREMERNS 2 BRER
B (ZEEHRNHMBEIMT -

Number of individuals A &

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

% 1,000,000 7T

The remuneration payable to the Directors depends on their
respective contractual terms under the service contracts or the
appointment letters (as the case may be), and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, taking into account the Group’s
operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance
and achievement. Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the
Relevant Year are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
set out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Nomination Committee on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the
CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board on
a regular basis; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (jii) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; (iv) make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors; and (v) make recommendations to our Board regarding the
candidates to fill vacancies on our Board. At the end of the Relevant
Year, the Nomination Committee consists of three members
comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua (chairman of
Nomination Committee) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie and Mr. Tog Chek
Soon.

48  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

1,500,001 77T & 2,000,000 7T 1

ENEEFIEARNERBEOREFERHRE
AME)NE LR - RRFMEESEZMTE
WEEAEEMAEEES  MEHF - BAAX
BRAT - BEAFEZESHWNFBINGEH
TEEFMIFE 20 ©

FHEEEEREHRERZ ERBRAREE
EREEGREHFENDE] -
REZEE

BMER2018F3 A2 B VIREEZES « I
EREEEATAEBINRGI U EMBERE -
RAZESGNHNIERER()EHRIESTEHR
o RE AR EETN (\MERERKAE
FERENEEAE (i) T HBULIERTEFH
BIUM: (VHEEXENZETEFHEEENE
FERIER  RVOHEMREFSERNAZER
EESRLER - -NBERFER REZE8Y
—“HKEBHAK  BREATESHEREBLE(RA
ZERITHE)NRMEBBUIEATEFENMRE
HERAAREIES A



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREABE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the Relevant Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting
to review, among others, the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board in accordance with the Board diversity policy
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors based on the nomination policy and
succession planning for Directors; and assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and concluded that
members of the Board possessed the expertise and independence to
carry out the Board’s functions and responsibilities.

The Company adopted a nomination policy in compliance with the
CG Code, which establishes written guidelines to the Nomination
Committee to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the
formulated criteria stated below:

° Reputation and integrity of the candidate;
° Accomplishment and experience;
° Commitment in terms of time and interest;

o Gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

o Potential contribution to board diversity;

° Independence with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the GEM Listing Rules if the candidate is nominated
as an independent non-executive Director; and

° Number of directorships in other listed/public companies if the
candidate is nominated as an independent non-executive
Director.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Below are the nomination procedure and process:

° The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall
be assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and
the Board against the selection criteria and the Board Diversity
Policy.

° In the appointment of a proposed Director, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate the candidate’s eligibility based on the
selection criteria. If multiple candidates are involved, the
Nomination Committee shall prioritize them according to the
Company’s needs and the candidates’ respective qualification.

° In the re-appointment of a Director at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee
shall review the overall contributions of the Director, such as the
Director’s service, participation and performance in the Board,
and whether the Director still meets the selection criteria.

The Board will review the policy from time to time.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set
out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choy Tuck Leong is the company secretary as appointed
pursuant to Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules. The biographical
details of Mr. Choy is set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” of this annual report.

The company secretary supports the Board by ensuring timely
information flow to and within the Board, and monitoring adherence
to Board policies and procedures, including the training and
continuous professional development of Directors. The company
secretary also guides the Board on corporate governance matters
and facilitate the induction of new Directors. The company secretary
has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
for the Relevant Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Required Standard of Dealings.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings during the Relevant Year.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that (i)
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
(i) judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable; and
(iii) statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards have
been adopted and complied with.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Directors confirm that, as
disclosed in note 2(a) to the consolidated financial statements, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Directors have prepared the financial statements for the Relevant
Year on a going-concern basis. The financial statements for the
Relevant Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP (“FKT”). A
statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibility is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The Company has an established risk framework under which it
identifies risks relevant to the operations and activities of the Group
(including material risks identified in the ESG Report), and assesses
these risks in relation to their likelihood and potential impacts. The
Group’s internal control system includes a well-defined management
structure with limits of authority, which is designed to achieve
business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, ensure proper maintenance of books and records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or publication,
and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations.
Such systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and aims to provide a
reasonable, as opposed to an absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Management reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. In
the Relevant Year, there was no significant change to the Group’s
operations, the Group’s business, and the environment in which the
Group operated. The Group’s risk management and internal control
systems remain adequate and effective.

The Group’s internal audit department assists the Board and the
Audit Committee to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems which covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls as
well as risk management functions during the Relevant Year. The
resulting assessment report was reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board. No major issue was raised for improvement. The
Board is satisfied with the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group’s whistleblowing policy (i) provides an avenue for
employees, vendors, customers and other stakeholders to raise
concerns in confidence and anonymity, particularly in relation to fraud,
controls or ethics, and (i) ensures such concerns are reported directly
to the Audit Committee. The Board was advised by the Audit
Committee that no reports of this nature were received during the
Relevant Year.

Anti-Corruption Policy

We prohibit employees from receiving any advantages offered by
customers, suppliers, colleagues, or other parties, while they are
performing employee duties, and prohibit any activities involving
conflicts of interest, bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
Our staff handbook lays out the Group’s expectation and guiding
provisions on code of conduct. We require employees and we
encourage customers, suppliers, or other parties to report incidents
relating to any conflicts of interest, extortion, bribery, fraud and money
laundering. We provide publications on anti-corruption practices to
our directors and senior management personnel annually, particularly
before Lunar New Year when it is common practice for the exchanges
of gifts. During the Relevant Year, there were no reports of non-
compliance incidents in relation to corruption.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing Rules as well as
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong in
June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the company secretary and
investor relations officers are authorised to communicate with
parties outside the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

FKT was re-appointed as the independent auditor of the Company
with effect from 8.2.2023 to hold office until the conclusion of the
next AGM.

For the Relevant Year, FKT received $42,000 (2022: $40,000) for
audit service and $19,250 (2022: $2,350) for non-audit service in
connection with tax advisory service mainly in relation to recovery of
tax paid in prior years arising from tax incentives received after the
payment of tax.
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DIVERSITY

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board as an essential element to improving governance and
performance, and to creating a competitive advantage. In designing
the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, and
professional experience. Directors are appointed based on merit, with
Board diversity in mind, to create an effective Board.

The following measurable objectives are applied to implement our
Board Diversity Policy:

° A minimum of one female Director.

° A minimum of one Director between the age groups of below
50, and above 51.

° A minimum of one Director with experience in each of the fields
of finance, marketing and production.

The table below shows the diversity of the Board at the end of the
Relevant Year. The Company has achieved the targets set out in its
Board Diversity Policy, including gender diversity.
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Diversity Gender Age Professional experience
e (4 451 Fie EXER
Male Female <50 >51 Finance Marketing | Production
L1 zH <50 5% >515% g T84 kE
No. of Directors
LY 6 1 2 5 2 3 2

The Board and the Nomination Committee review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy annually, and
considered that the policy remains effective in the Relevant Year. To
maintain Board gender diversity, the Company prepares for
successors by training female executives within the Group and by
external outsourcing from recruitment agencies and The Singapore
Institute of Directors.
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DIVERSITY (Continued)

Workforce Gender Diversity

The table below shows the gender ratio of the workforce, including
executive directors and senior management, at the end of the
Relevant Year.

e | AC))

B TH4RIZ Tt
TRERBNEBEEREIHA(BENTE
ENEREE) BRI o

Female:Male ratio

Z M EE BB
Corporate office TERRNE 1.0:1
Production & logistics EEFR 0.3:1
Total workforce BT 0.5:1

The low female ratio is typical in a manufacturing industry.

We do not set a specific gender diversity target as we hire based on
specific qualification or skillset required from time to time. We also
face the challenge of hiring females to work in an industrial area far
from city centre.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a
written requisition requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the
purpose(s) of the extraordinary general meeting, and (ii) must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the registered office of
the Company for attention of the company secretary, and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionist(s). Such requisitions will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the company secretary will ask
the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by serving
sufficient notice to all shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition
has been verified as not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the extraordinary general meeting will
not be convened as requested.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
(Continued)

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionist(s) or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene an
extraordinary general meeting, but any extraordinary general meeting
so convened shall not be held after expiration of two months from the
said date of deposit of the requisition. An extraordinary general
meeting convened by the requisitionist(s) shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meeting
To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal with
his/her detailed contact information at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Board will be asked to include the proposal in the
agenda for the general meeting.

Right to Make Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form,
to the Board by addressing them to the company secretary at 31/F.,
148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Shareholders may also
make enquiries to the Board at the general meeting of the Company.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Boardroom Share Registrars
(HK) Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlements to dividend.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders to be its goal. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, inter alia:

° the general financial condition of the Group;
° the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the Shareholders’ and the investors expectation and industry’s
norm;

o the general market conditions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
Declaration of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Memorandum
and Articles of Association and any applicable laws, rules and

regulations (including but not limited to the GEM Listing Rules).

The Board will review the policy from time to time.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with
the investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of
the Company’s business and its development among investors. To
achieve this goal and increase transparency, the Company will
continue to adopt proactive measures to foster better investor
relations and communications. As such, the purpose for the
Company to formulate investor relations policies is to let investors
have access to the information of the Group in a fair and timely
manner, so that they can make an informed decision.

We welcome investors to write to the Company or send their enquiries
to the Company’s email of investor_relation@sunlightpaper.com.sg to
share their opinions with the Board. The Company’s website also
discloses the latest business information of the Group to investors
and the public.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
measures relating to shareholders’ communication and considered
them to be effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In the Annual General Meeting held on 8.2.2023, the amendments to
the Articles of Association were approved. Details of the amendments
were stated in the circular dated 29.12.2022. The amended and
restated Articles of Association are posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with Shareholders and investors mainly
in the following ways:

(i) convening general meetings at least once a financial year
whereby Shareholders and investors could communicate
directly with the Board;

(i)  publishing quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements
and/or circulars as required under the GEM Listing Rules and/
or press releases to provide updated information on the Group;
and

(i)  updating the Company’s website with the latest information on
the Group.

The Company acknowledges that general meeting is a good
communication channel with Shareholders. The Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at general meetings.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

The Company has adopted its shareholder communication policy to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to allow Shareholders and investors to strengthen communication
with the Company. The Company is committed to promoting and
maintaining effective communication with Shareholders and other
stakeholders. The Board is committed to ensuring that Shareholders
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company. The Group will
continuously ensure the effectiveness and timeliness of information
disclosure to Shareholders and investors.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to maintain a clear delineation of the businesses between our
Group and our Controlling Shareholders, the latter have entered into
the Deed of Non-competition in favour of our Company (for ourselves
and as trustee for each of our subsidiaries from time to time) to the
effect that each of them will not, and will procure each of their
respective close associates not to, directly or indirectly participate in,
or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved in any business
which may be in competition with our businesses.

For details of the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders that they have complied with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Relevant Year. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the status of compliance and
written confirmation from the Controlling Shareholders, and noted
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied with by each of the Controlling Shareholders during
the Relevant Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
30.9.2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue products to
corporate customers in Singapore. Further discussion and analysis of
these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance, including a performance analysis using financial key
performance indicators and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business, can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Details
of the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are set out in
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. These form part of
this report.

During the Relevant Year, the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it. The Board has not identified any material
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
Relevant Year.

The Group is committed to nurturing its staff to care about and
protect the environment. It conducts its business in a manner that
balances the environment and economic needs. The Group complies
with all relevant environment regulations. It works with its partners
including customers and suppliers in a concerted effort to operate in
an environmentally responsible manner by making concerted efforts
to be energy-efficient and to practise “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”.

Among others, the Group has taken the following initiatives:
° recycles printed paper and production tissue paper; and

° installation of low-energy LED lighting.
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EERE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance
will be disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report
of the Company for the Relevant Year, which will be published in the
manner required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development and therefore we
obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly. This
communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best
way to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development. Across the supply chain, we
have taken steps throughout the Relevant Year to ensure that we
operate responsibly and in the interests of our customers, workforce,
suppliers and other stakeholders.

Our employees are valuable assets and our success is underpinned
by our people. We provide attractive remuneration packages, and a
fair and harmonious working environment to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of our employees. Our human resource policies
outline our compensation, working hours, rest periods and other
benefits and welfare, which comply with laws and regulations. We
attract qualified applicants by offering competitive remuneration
packages based on prevailing market conditions. None of the
Group’s employees is represented by any collective bargaining
agreement or labour union. The Group has not experienced any
significant problem with its employees or disruption to its operations
due to labour dispute, nor has the Group experienced any difficulties
in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff. We endeavour
to create a workplace based on respect for human rights and where
our employees are free to practise their beliefs and preferences.

During the Relevant Year, the Group maintained good relationship
with its customers and generally maintained a high retention rate with
the existing customers to keep abreast of market development and
potential business opportunities.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

The Group has maintained stable and long-established business
relationships with its major suppliers. We do not foresee any difficulty
in procurement nor experienced any production disruption.

We endeavour to support the communities in which we operate by
understanding their needs. We focus on the hygiene aspects of
charitable organisations in our community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Relevant Year is as follows:
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Percentage of the Group’s total

HEEEAHES L
Sales Purchases
HE BE
The largest customer BAEP 17.2% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AARBFEE 44.2% -
The largest supplier BAEER - 41.9%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAEEREET - 94.8%

At no time during the Relevant Year have the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Relevant Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in Shares during the Relevant Year are set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not redeem
any of its listed securities nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase, or sell any of such securities during the
Relevant Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At the end of the Relevant Year, the reserves of the Company
available for distribution, as calculated under the Companies Act of
the Cayman Islands, was $9.6 million (2022: $9.0 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Relevant Year are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors and changes to their information, if any, during the
Relevant Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Chua Liang Sie (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chua Liang Chui

Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao)

Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenijie)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ng Boon Cheow, Freddie

Tog Chek Soon

Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Chua Wenhao
(alias Cai Wenhao), Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenijie), Mr. Tog Chek
Soon and Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia shall retire at the forthcoming
AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing on the
Listing Date and/or the appointment date, respectively and will
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms of
the service agreement. Independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years from their respective dates of
appointment and will continue thereafter unless terminated by either
party giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election has a service
contract with the Company not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the Relevant Year, so far as the Directors are aware, none of
the Directors and Controlling Shareholders, neither themselves nor
their respective close associates, had held any position or had
interests in any businesses or companies that were materially
competing or might materially compete with the business of the
Group, or gave rise to any concern regarding conflict of interest.

ACHIEVEMENT OF USE OF PROCEEDS AND
BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

Net proceeds from the Share Offer of $4.6 million were fully utilized by
30.9.2022. Details of the comparison of business objective with
actual business progress are discussed in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at the end of the Relevant Year, interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,
were as follows:

() Long positions in the Shares:

EERFTETHRAEREAQATRE
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Number of
underlying Percentage of
Number of Sharesheld  Total number the total
Shares held under equity of Shares  issued Shares
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) derivatives interested (%)
MRALTE HERTRHG
FiEROHE  IEMEER BEERN aERl
#e 5% REiME (M&E1) ROBE RBEEH (%)
Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 552,000,000 (L) - 552,000,000 69
ERBLE () to buy shares described in NG
$.317(1)(a) of the SFO
ERREEEAE317(1)(0)
FrlBR RN —HTBAL
Mr. Chua Liang Chui (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 552,000,000 (L) - 552,000,000 69

BRBLE(ME2) to buy shares described in NRIER
$.317(1)(a) of the SFO
EHREEROIE317(1))
B RpEN - BIBAL
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

(i) Long position in the shares of YJH Group
Limited — an associated corporation of the

BEENFETHRAERADTRE
MEBEZENRS  HEBERORE
RENERER WHKE @

(i)

7 YJIH Group Limited (Z4~A &) 48
BOEE) RO B A

Company
Number of  Approximate percentage
Name Capacity/Nature of interests shares held of the total issued shares
HERITROBEHN
H®H B RmE FrEERGEE BHABEDL
Mr. Chua Liang Sie Beneficial owner/Personal interest 480,000 82.76%
BERESE EmBEE A EAERE
Mr. Chua Liang Chui Beneficial owner/Personal interest 100,000 17.24%
ERBEE BEamBa A EAERE
Notes: MizE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1.  F& [L] I8 ATHRZERME (172 (E
XV of the SFO) in such Shares. ZRBENEEHIEXVER) ©
2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 82.76% by Mr. Chua 2. YJH Group Limited I R B 5 £ R &R

Liang Sie and 17.24% by Mr. Chua Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie and
Mr. Chua Liang Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement
dated 11.10.2017. As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH
Group Limited as a group and were deemed to have interests in the
Shares held by YJH Group Limited, respectively. For details, see
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Concert parties
arrangement” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme, the details of
which are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
No share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. Therefore, no options were exercised or cancelled
or lapsed during the Relevant Year and there were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at the end of the Relevant
Year. The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate
exceed 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save for the Share Option Scheme, at no time from the Listing Date
to the date of this report were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the end of the Relevant Year, other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company, the following persons/entities have an
interest or a short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares as
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

BERETE

RARBRA—BRERESE - AFBEHNEGE
EFFSRFITRE 23 o B IR EEARIE ST B DATR - A
BHERE Bl REBEFERN - BEERE
BT SRR SR MR BRBAFER - B
FTEITE T LA M RATE M REARAE - ARIRFEARMERT
BT RE R LM E RN IRG LA TRER
80,000,000 f% + 157~ 4 B BRE B TAR 19 42 8Ly
10% °

EEB ARG HER
BB BISN - ADRR L EREEERH

SEMEARERER TENEERFEEEN
LB 18 BIA T F R AT FE AR R RIA ) S (B
AR RWETREITEEIMZFE
Mo HARE - EAERR QB S E A B A E &
EESI=PNCIP) E T VAR CIES 22 Sk o= Rl N
EREAMEAB BN ZETER -

FERRRRORAEBRSGNVERS
R/EHKR

REBFER RARAREERIZTHAE
Sh - AT AL/ EBRBRG SRR M hERR
B IRBES LB GDIE 336 KA R EIATHE
ENELMONERIOLR

Long position in the Shares: R EF A -
Number of Number of underlying Total number Percentage of
Shares held Shares held under of Shares  the total issued
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) equity derivatives interested Shares (%)
URALTE ERTRS
FisRBEA IAREEE BERERH ARt
B 5% BRME GES) RHGEE REE (%)
YJH Group Limited (Note 2) ~ Beneficial owner Personal interest 552,000,000 (L) - 552,000,000 69

YJH Group Limited (fiz£2) Ezm#EBA {E AR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 82.76% by Mr. Chua
Liang Sie and 17.24% by Mr. Chua Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie and
Mr. Chua Liang Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement
dated 11.10.2017. As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH
Group Limited as a group and were deemed to have interests in the
Shares held by YJH Group Limited, respectively. For details, see
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Concert parties
arrangement” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year and so
far as known to the Directors, no person/entity, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company or any Associated Corporation” above, had notified the
Company of an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which had been required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant Section 336 of the
SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The relevant provisions of the Articles and the insurance
coverage are currently in force and were in force throughout the
Relevant Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than a contract of service with any Director or any
person under the full employment of the Company, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the Relevant Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements (i) will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares; or (ii) require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Group during the Relevant Year or existed
as at the end of the Relevant Year.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to which either the Company or any of its subsidiaries
were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which any Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is set up by the Board to formulate a
remuneration policy for approval by the Board, which will take into
consideration factors such as corporate result, individual capability
and performance, salaries paid by comparable companies,
employment conditions, time commitment and responsibilities, and
individual performance of the Directors, senior management and the
general staff of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive
to eligible participants.

During the Relevant Year, the Group contributed fully to the Central
Provident Fund (“CPF”) of Singapore and did not forfeit any CPF
contributions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to

consult their professional advisers.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Group had no outstanding loans.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Summary of Financial Information”
in this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group contributes to a defined contribution plan. The details are
set out under the sub-section headed “Employee benefits” in note
2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Relevant Year, there was no connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.

During the Relevant Year, there were no related party transactions
other than key management personnel compensation as disclosed in
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report, the Company had complied with the CG Code during the
Relevant Year. Details of the principal corporate governance practices
of our Group are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias
Cai Wenhao) whose biographical details are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report. The company secretary is Mr. Choy Tuck Leong who is also
the Company’s chief financial officer and his biographical details are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP, an
independent firm of Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
in Singapore, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward looking statements with respect to the
financial conditions, results of operations and business of the Group.
These forward looking statements represent the Company’s
expectations or beliefs concerning future events and involve known
and unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual results,
performance or events to differ materially from those expressed or
implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board
Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Chua Liang Sie

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Singapore, 15.12.2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

To the members of Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sunlight
(1977) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30.9.2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30.9.20283, and of the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA”) International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B R HE R E

Key Audit Matters

FREEE X TR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RIEEZENZEHE  BREKSEAEENSE
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ~ ZAHIEIHG A M BEHERTREENEIE - B
financial statements of the current period. These matters were FEEZGEVHERRELE LI ERE REFEIE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial — |tt%FE @ MASHHEEEEFHERER -
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

E A

Our responses and work performed

EEWERRTETHIHE

Revaluation of building on leasehold land
et FEEYER

The Group carries its building on leasehold land at fair
value, with the change in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Group engages a firm of
independent professional valuers to assess the fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The fair value
of the building on leasehold land is determined by the
independent professional valuers using recognised
valuation techniques. The technique applied is the
market approach, by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market.
Significant judgement and estimates are required in the
valuation technique and inputs used to determine the
fair value of the building on leasehold land.

BEEEMEEL FEEMEATENE  EQATFESE
PREMEPAWRER - BEEEZRBIREXGHER
KRR EERERROATE - HELI FEEYH
RFETHBIEXEGEEMERC BB EERNETE -
R ATISE  TH2ERET SN AN A L&
HERS - HAETHE LI FREY QA FENGER
MR ABIER - AIEHEXRHAE R -

Our procedures in relation to the revaluation of building on
leasehold land included:

° Assessing the methodologies and appropriateness of
the key assumptions used by the management’s expert;

° Understanding and reviewing the assumptions in the
input data from the management’s expert through
discussions, comparisons to industry peers and
independent external data sources, and agree to
supporting documentation; and

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the management’s expert.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B & HE R E

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREESREE

FREZEIE )

Our responses and work performed

EENEERFTETH I

Revaluation of building on leasehold land (Continued)
HET FEEYER(E)

Fair value encompasses estimating the expected selling
prices of the underlying assets by identifying the
comparable assets and determining the current market
selling prices of these assets. Input inaccuracies or
inappropriate bases used to determine the fair value,
including the comparable assets used in the fair value
measurements, could result in material misstatement in
the consolidated financial statements.

AFERRBEZRNTENBREERBEERSEEENE
Al 5 & FX%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ?%ﬁﬂEf RREERF
BEABBTERIERINSE (BEARAFEFENT

ﬁmﬁé%)%%ﬁ%éﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁu°

The valuation technique and inputs to the revaluation of

building on leasehold land are disclosed in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EfHEE L EEEY AN GERN B ARERE
KR A BITEIRRMIRES ©
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We involved an auditor’s expert to assist us in the above. We
evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
auditor’s expert, and the adequacy of the work performed by
the experts.

We also considered the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, describing the
methodologies used, degree of subjectivity and key
assumptions used in the estimates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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B EED R &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chin Sin Beng.

Foo Kon Tan LLP

A principal member firm of HLB International
Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

15.12.2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

at 30.9.2023
R 20234F 9 A30H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Note $’000 $000
P 7E Fx Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MR E 3 14,080 14,230
Right-of-use asset EREEE 4 507 580
Software licences BT 5 43 57
14,630 14,867
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories & 6 985 1,014
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A RS GRIE 7 2,951 2,410
Prepayments SELRE ¢ 29 78
Cash and bank balances R RIBTTHERR 8 1,722 807
5,687 4,309
Total assets EEHSE 20,317 19,176
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Capital and Reserves MR AR
Share capital A% A 9 1,338 1,338
Reserves i 10 15,490 15,037
Total equity attributable to owners A& RQATEE A EIGRESALE
of the Company 16,828 16,375
Non-Current Liabilities kRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEEE 11 1,160 1,052
Deferred capital grant IR A B 12 519 48
Lease liability HEAE 14 176 200
1,855 1,300
Current Liabilities REEE
Borrowings (RN 13 - 9
Lease liability HEAE 14 26 26
Trade and other payables B 5 REAFERRIE 15 1,554 1,466
Current tax payable BB & 54 -
1,634 1,501
Total liabilities =NEEEE 3,489 2,801
Total equity and liabilities ERRAGEAE 20,317 19,176

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in
conjunction with these financial statements.

BEMIME AR R S B REN S - LERR
SR RE— OO -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HeRmRkEMEEKSR

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HE202349 A30 B LM BFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Note $°000 $°000
k=3 Fx Fit
Revenue 1@ 16 14,596 12,020
Cost of sales SHE AR (10,062) (9,238)
Gross profit EF 4,534 2,782
Other income Hab A 17 70 111
Selling and distribution expenses $HE R iHR X (1,744) (1,458)
Administrative expenses 1TERF S (1,961) (1,395)
Other expenses Hifx (37) -
Finance costs A 18 (10) (12)
Profit before taxation FRBE AR R 19 852 28
Taxation BIE 21 (202) 232
Profit for the year FREF 650 260
Other comprehensive income BREREM2ENES
after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified HEBTEERIEZE
subsequently to profit or loss BENER
Revaluation of building on leasehold EHEAE T FESEY
land (237) 174
Related tax RERIE 40 (30)
Other comprehensive income for FREMZEYRE (BRBZ)
the year, net of tax (197) 144
Total comprehensive income ARAREEAEBLEEAZE
for the year attributable to W iR4a%E
owners of the Company 453 404
Earnings per share BATEEAELRER
attributable to owners of the Z R (s AL)
Company (Singapore cent)
— Basic and diluted — BEARREE 22 0.08 0.03

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in  BEMIB 40K 2 S8 TSRER A0 — 2B1p - WA E L
conjunction with these financial statements. LR Rk —OHBE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEERBER

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARERAER
Share Share Merger Revaluation  Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
Bax  RGEE AHRE  EMRE  REBAN  ERAE
$:000 $:000 $:000 $:000 $:000 $000
i i Fr Fr T T
Balance at 1.10.2021 R2021 510518 28 1,338 6,221 580 5,332 2,500 15,971
Profit for the year FREH - - - - 260 260
Other comprehensive income FREMZERE
for the year
— Revaluation of building on - SRS EBEN (RER)
leasehold land (net of tax) - - - 144 - 144
Total comprehensive income FREANGAE
for the year - - - 144 260 404
Balance at 30.9.2022 18202259 A 30 B 2 &8 1,338 6,221 580 5,476 2,760 16,375
Balance at 1.10.2022 R2022F10 51 H 2 &8 1,338 6,221 580 5,476 2,760 16,375
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 650 650
Other comprehensive income FRE2EKE
for the year
— Revaluation of building on - SRS EEEN (BEER)
leasehold land (net of tax) - - - (197) - (197)
Total comprehensive income ERZENGAH
for the year - - - (197) 650 453
Balance at 30.9.2023 2023 F9A30 R 2 &R 1,338 6,221 580 5,279 3,410 16,828

e BT PR RE AR 5% 5 A T SR 9 — B 10 - WLZR A EZ
EE R — ORI -

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in
conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREBR

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note $°000 $°000
Pi&E Fr FT
Cash Flows from Operating Activities XEKETZENHESHKEE
Profit before taxation BT A 852 28
Adjustments for: BATSIBELAE
Amortisation of deferred capital grant R R A A4 B Y B 12 (21) 8)
Amortisation of software licences B R R B 5 14 20
Allowance for impairment loss on B 5 NE M ERGIERE
trade and other receivables 1R 7 37 -
Depreciation of property, M - BERRETE
plant and equipment 3 547 398
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FHRBEEENE 4 73 74
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEREERE
plant and equipment 17 (34) (12)
Interest expense Memx 18 10 12
Interest income FBUA 17 (1) -
Operating profit before working EEESEHBASEER
capital changes 1,477 512
Changes in inventories 7(_ EEE 29 (321)
Changes in trade and other receivables & 5 & H i fE U 18 5 (226) (621)
Change in prepayments %EH L) 49 214
Changes in borrowings =R - (1,543)
Changes in trade and other payables B 5 REER B S 88 (12)
Cash generated from/(used in) BEERRE (R RS
operations 1,417 (1,771)
Income taxes refunded/(paid) BERAGH(BERAER) 140 (13)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEERE (TR RESTFE
operating activities 1,557 (1,784)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities RERETHNRERE
Interest received BUF B 1 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BEMREMEHIE
plant and equipment 119 35
Purchase of property, BEWE  BEKRE
plant and equipment 3 (719) (1,036)
Purchase of software licences BB WA 5 - 67)
Receipt of capital grants W B & AR - 56
Net cash used in investing activities R & BT AE S TE (599) (1,012)

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

MERERER®
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2023 2022
2023 2022
Note $’000 $'000
FitsE Fr T
Cash Flows from Financing Activities REREIBHNRLTE
Interest paid BEAFE (10) (12)
Repayment of borrowings BEER ©) (106)
Repayment of lease liability EBERERE (24) (23)
Net cash used in financing activites & EBAR ST (43) (141)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and B RIBITHESIEMCRD)
bank balances SR 915 (2,937)
Cash and bank balances at FYRe RRITER
beginning of year 807 3,744
Cash and bank balances at end of year FERRE RIBITES 8 1,722 807

BERM FY L AR AR 2 S B TS TR Y — &f {0 > /A%
FE R — ORI -

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in
conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

FERERER®
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

Reconciliation of Movements of Liabilities to Cash Flows Arising from Financing Activities

SESDYURERHMELENRERENHR

Bank loan Lease liability Total
RITENR HEEE #Et
$000 $000 $000
T T T
(Note/ffiz£ 13) (Note/ fiix 14)
Balance at 1.10.2021 742021 £10 81 B 2 &8 115 249 364
Changes from financing cash flows REWMERSRENEE
— Repayment of borrowings — BEER (106) - (106)
— Repayment of lease liability - BEHEaE - (23) (23)
— Interest paid — BHFE ) €) (12)
Total changes from financing cash flows REREREREN S HASR (109) (32) (141)
Other changes Hit @5
— Interest expense - FERY 3 9 12
Total liability-related other changes BEAE - HEMEBEH 3 9 12
Balance at 30.9.2022 202259 A 30 Az &tk 9 226 235
Balance at 1.10.2022 720224510 A1 B 2 &84 9 226 235
Changes from financing cash flows REMERSRENEE
— Repayment of borrowings — BEHER ©) - ©)
— Repayment of lease liability - EEHERRE - (24) (24)
— Interest paid —BRFE - (10) (10)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERERENEHASR (9) (34) (43)
Other changes HAth & B
— Interest expense — FBHEX - 10 10
Total liability-related other changes BEAE - HEMEBHER - 10 10
Balance at 30.9.2023 R2023%9 430 Az &tk - 202 202
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

1

General Information

The consolidated financial statements of Sunlight (1977)
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the financial year ended 30.9.2023 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the
date of the Report of the Directors.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017. The shares
of the Company were listed on GEM operated by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 16.4.2018.

The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The head office and principal place of business
in Singapore is located at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore
637590. The principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located at 31/F., 148 Electric Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue
products to corporate customers in Singapore. The subsidiary
directly and wholly-owned by the Company is SPP Investments
Limited (“SPP Investments”), which is an investment holding
company. The subsidiary indirectly and wholly-owned by the
Company (through SPP Investments) is Sunlight Paper
Products Pte. Ltd. (“Sunlight Paper”), which is principally
engaged in the supply of tissue products to corporate
customers in Singapore. Details of the subsidiaries are
disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is YJH Group
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation 2(a) 25IFE%E

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with IFRS including related Interpretations
promulgated by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies
below.

The presentation of the consolidated financial statements
includes applicable disclosures required by the GEM Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Singapore dollar (“SGD”) which is the Company’s functional
currency. All financial information is presented in SGD and
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
financial year. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions,
actual results may differ from those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and
in any future periods affected.

The significant accounting estimates and assumptions used
and areas involving a high degree of judgement are described
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 2HIEE @)

Significant judgements in applying accounting policies
Going concern

The Group generated net operating cash inflows of $1,557,000
(2022: incurred net operating cash outflows of $1,784,000) and
net profit of $650,000 (2022: $260,000) for the financial year
ended 30.9.2023. In addition, as at 30.9.2023, the Group had
net current assets and net assets of $4,053,000 (2022:
$2,808,000) and $16,828,000 (2022: $16,375,000),
respectively.

Having regard to measures to tighten controls over expenses
and to better manage the Group’s working capital, the directors
believe that the Group is able to adequately manage its cash
flows and continue to operate as a going concern.

In assessing whether the Group can meet its debt obligations
for at least 12 months from the end of the reporting period,
management has prepared cash flow forecast for the financial
year ending 30.9.2024. Based on the forecast and having
regard to the above, the directors believe that the Group has
sufficient working capital and financial resources to enable the
Group to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due and
continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration the
available other banking facilities of $3,500,000 (2022:
$3,500,000) as disclosed in Note 13. Accordingly, the directors
are of the view that the going concern assumption is
appropriate for the presentation of these consolidated financial
statements.

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies

Income taxes

Significant judgement is involved in determining group-wide
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recognised, such differences will affect the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s
deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the
Group’s income taxes for the year are disclosed in Note 11 and
Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 2HNEE @)

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Revaluation of building on leasehold land

The Group carries its building on leasehold land at fair value,
with the change in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Group has engaged a firm of
independent professional valuation experts to assess the fair
value of its building on leasehold land, which is determined
using recognised valuation techniques. The technique applied is
the market approach. The carrying amount of the building on
leasehold land at fair value at the end of the reporting period is
disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The valuation techniques and inputs used to determine the fair
value of the building on leasehold land are provided in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
asset

The costs of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
asset are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
economic useful lives of the assets. Management estimates the
useful lives of plant and equipment and right-of-use asset to be
within 5 to 20 years. The useful life of the building on leasehold
land is based on the committed lease term of the leasehold
land. The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use asset at the end of the reporting
period is disclosed in Note 3 and Note 4, respectively, to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group performs annual
reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful lives
continue to be valid. As changes in the expected level of usage,
maintenance programmes and technological developments
could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values
of these assets, future depreciation charges could be revised. If
depreciation on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use asset increases/decreases by 10% from
management’s estimates, the Group’s profit for the year will
decrease/increase by $55,000 (2022: $40,000) and $7,000
(2022: $7,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 2HIEE @)

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Amortisation of deferred capital grant

The deferred capital grant is amortised over the useful lives of
the corresponding property, plant and equipment and software
licenses for a period of 20 years and 5 years respectively. The
carrying amount of the Group’s deferred capital grant at the
end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements. If there is a change in the
useful lives of the corresponding property, plant and equipment
and software licenses, the future amortisation income could be
revised accordingly. If amortisation income on the Group’s
deferred capital grant increases/decreases by 10% from
management’s estimates, the Group’s profit for the year will
increase/decrease by $2,100 (2022: $800).

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At the end of each
reporting period, historical default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information relating
to ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note
28.1. If the loss rates increase by 1% from management’s
estimates, the Group’s allowance for impairment of trade
receivables will increase by $24,000 (2022: $22,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

HZE2023F 930 H I HRFE

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published
standards effective in 2022
On 1.10.2022, the Group adopted the following IFRSs that are
mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the
Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in
accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective

IFRSs.

Reference

Description

Amendment to IAS 16

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IAS 37

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 — 2020

— Amendments to IAS 41

— Amendments to IFRS 1

— Amendments to IFRS 9

— Amendments to

lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16

Taxation in Fair Value
Measurements

Subsidiary as a First-time
Adopter

Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ Test for
Derecognition of
Financial Liabilities

Lease Incentives

The adoption of these new and amended IFRSs did not result

in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies nor

any significant impact on these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet 2(c) MARBEAN A FTAER KRR

adopted

The following are the new or amended IFRSs and IFRICs issued
that are not yet effective but may be early adopted for the
current financial year. However, the Group has not early
adopted the new or amended IFRSs and IFRICs in preparing

these financial statements:

R BRI RS
i 7R B AR R 55

AT A ARERERTRERATREEZRS
%WWE%%%J&W1JIWWﬁﬁ¢
ZEZEgRE-A

B 765 4R 3R B 1 R R
MZEFET NS TTEIR B mE

)

BRI mERELZaeRE
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on
Reference Description or after)
EHAH
(R BN
82Z i M EERM)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1.1.2023
BRI RSIRE ERIE 17 5% RBEH 2023F1A1H
Amendments to IAS 1 and FRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1.1.2023
B ERIFE 1 FRERMBRSERBEBRE2R RESHEER 2023 1A1H
TR
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1.1.2023
Bl &S ERIE 8RBT A ERREERE: 2023%F1 A1H
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 1.1.2023
arising from a Single Transaction
BN e st R E 1257 BT A HE-XHELNEERABRBNETNA 20234 1A1H
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules 1.1.2023
B g s ERIE 125 BT A BB e — A & AHR A 202341 H1H
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as Current or Non-current 1.1.2024
Bl & SRR E 1 R A RBAFERDEESR 20241 A1H
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1.1.2024
BN e s R E 1 RIEFT AR BROHZFEREEE 202441 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1.1.2024
BUFR B T s ZE B 28 16 SR B AT AR ERmARNEERE 20241 R 18
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements 1.1.2024
B g ERIE 7R R R BRELNETRETR HEARERH 20241 H1H
Amendments to I1AS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1.1.2025
Bl & s ERIE 21 R BRI Bz AT E 20251 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Yet to be
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture determined
BRI E LR E 10K RER ST ERFE 28K BITA RELFRABRERANAELE RN HiE
BELESRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

2(c) MAFRMIFTER MR @)

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the above
IFRSs in future periods will have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group and the Company in the
period of their initial adoption.

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries at the end of
the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company.
Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and
dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Thus, the Group controls an investee if, and only if,
the Group has all of the following:

(i) power over the investee;

(i)  exposure, or rights or variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

(i)  the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation,
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable
amount over their estimated useful lives or remaining lease
period, as follows:

Building on leasehold land Remaining lease period

to0 15.8.2060
Plant and machinery 5 to 20 years
Motor vehicles 51to 10 years
Furnishings and improvements 10 years

No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as
part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the
obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred
as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset.

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and
equipment that have been recognised is added to the carrying
amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits in excess of the standard of performance of the asset
before the expenditure was made will flow to the Group and the
cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure
is recognised as an expense during the period in which it is
incurred.

For acquisitions and disposals during the period, depreciation is
recognised in profit or loss from the month that the property,
plant and equipment are installed and are available for use, and
to the month of disposal, respectively. Fully depreciated
property, plant and equipment are retained in the accounts until
they are no longer in use.

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the
difference between the disposal proceeds and its carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

2(d)
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for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period as a change in estimates.

Building on leasehold land is measured at fair value at the date
of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment. Any revaluation
surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the
increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is
recognised in profit or loss, where it exceeds an existing surplus
on the same asset carried in the revaluation reserve.

At valuation date, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a
manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset. The accumulated depreciation is adjusted
to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and
the carrying amount of the asset after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses.

Software licences
Software licences are capitalised and amortised on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets, at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade
receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer,
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party if the trade
receivables do not contain a significant financing component at
initial recognition. Refer to the accounting policy on “Revenue
from contracts with customers”.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are “solely payments of principal and interest” (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as
the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both.
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for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are
classified in four categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative
gains and losses (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity
instruments)

—  Financial assets at FVTPL

The Group does not hold any financial assets at FVOCI or
FVTPL.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the
contractual cash terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent SPPI are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the
amortisation process.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise trade
and other receivables (excluding government grant receivable,
advances to suppliers and tax recoverable) and cash and bank
balances.

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional (i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of the consideration is due).
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued) MEEE (B
Derecognition BIFTER

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the asset expire. On derecognition of a
financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received is recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) associated with its debt instrument
financial assets carried at amortised cost. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (12-month ECLs). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs).

For trade receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of each reporting
period. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other receivables, loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs are estimated by
reference to the track record of the counterparties and their
business and financial conditions.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’” when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

° significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

o a breach of contract such as a default or being more than
90 days past due;

o the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

o it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these
assets.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly

attributable to its acquisition or issue.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise borrowings, lease
liability and trade and other payables (excluding net output tax).

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at
FVTPL, such as interest-bearing borrowings, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation
process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Borrowings

Borrowings which are due to be settled more than 12 months
after the reporting period are included in current borrowings in
the consolidated statement of financial position if the loan facility
agreements include an overriding repayment on demand clause
which gives the lender the right to demand repayment at any
time at its sole discretion and irrespective of whether a default
event has occurred. These borrowings are classified as current
because, at the end of the reporting period, the Group does not
have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for at least
twelve months after that date. Other borrowings due to be
settled more than 12 months after the reporting period are
included in non-current borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis, and
includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. In the case of manufactured products,
cost includes all direct expenditure and appropriate share of
production overheads based on the normal level of operating
activity.

Allowance is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective
inventories in arriving at the net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of new ordinary shares that
have been issued. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issuance of new ordinary shares are deducted against share
premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Dividends BRE

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are not accounted for
in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the articles of association of the Company grant the
Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised directly as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of twelve
months or less) and leases of low-value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease (including extension option) unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate specific to the lessee. The incremental borrowing
rate is defined as the rate of interest that the lessee would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

The lease liabilities are presented as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost,
by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)

The Group remeasures the lease liability (with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset or to profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has already been

reduced to nil) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments
change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in
which case a revised discount rate is used); or

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the
costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Depreciation on right-of-use asset is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over
the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset, as follows:

Prepaid differential premium
Leasehold land

11 years
11 years

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is presented as a separate line item in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss.

Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised
at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax
authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements
except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and affects neither accounting or taxable
profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authorities
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, provided
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised
simultaneously.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period; and

(i)  based on the tax consequence that will follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts
of its assets and liabilities.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income
or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax
arises from a business combination or a transaction which is
recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Valued-added taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of value-added tax (“VAT”), except where the VAT
incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable
from the taxation authorities, in which case the VAT is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable, and except that trade
receivables and trade payables are recorded with the amount of
VAT included. The net amount of VAT recoverable from or
payable to the taxation authorities are included as part of other
receivables or other payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group contributes to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), a
defined contribution plan regulated and managed by the
Government of Singapore, which applies to the employees.
Contribution is mandatory and forfeiture of contribution by
employer is prohibited. A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contribution into a separate entity and will have no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The
contributions to CPF are charged to profit or loss in the period
to which the contributions relate.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. Accrual is made for the unconsumed
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Related parties

A related party is defined as follows:

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group or the Company if that person:

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Company;
has significant influence over the Company; or
is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Company or of a parent of the
Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group or the Company if any of
the following conditions applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

the entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the Company is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Company.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BEs (&)

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) P @) RATRERIA THE
over the entity or is a member of the key *ﬁéj{%ém i%‘%ﬁ‘%ﬁ(%
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent ZEEBNEAR)TEZEERE
of the entity). D=1

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a Vi) ZER(HEE(MZERAS
part, provides key management personnel services FRCE) AERKE AT R
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the HEERBABRSER B AFIR
reporting entity. HEZERAEZR -

Key management personnel FEEEAS
Key management personnel are those persons having the FEE

authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Group. Directors and certain management
executive are considered key management personnel.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other
than inventories, are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong will be identified.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level.

Individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal
and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow
evaluation. Impairment loss recognised for a cash-generating
unit is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that
an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Any impairment loss is charged to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount or when
there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for
the asset no longer exists or decreases.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course
of business is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control of a
promised good or service to the customer. The transaction
price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the
relative stand-alone selling prices of the promised goods or
services. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of
the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO.

2(d)
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EEEENKREETSBBRERLERER
BEBRFREETNREER T8
ElREEE

BEBERCONBEAERRWA -

BEEEHWE

RAKREZ BRXBBETHERHMmER
BZRERAEBEBATFPEBREDLE
Ama R H s ERENEE(ELDY
BEEDRER - B ERRIES L ER S
HRBENBEBLHEERDEI SO
MEBENET EEAZKRESBER/IE
ERERBHNEEZRZEREE -

2023 F 3R/ A (1977) EBRAERLF

109



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the
contract to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services. When
consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in
the transaction price to the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is resolved.

Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time
following the timing of satisfaction of the PO.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised by the Group at
a point in time when the goods are delivered to the customer,
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied, and the customer
obtains control of the goods.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss,
using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as other income on a systematic basis
in the periods in which the expenses are recognised, unless the
conditions for receiving the grant are met after the related
expenses have been recognised.

Government grants related to assets are initially recognised as
deferred income. These government grants are then recognised
as other income on a systematic basis over the useful life of the
asset.

Government grants are recognised as a receivable at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grants will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Singapore dollar (“SGD”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

Conversion of foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency
(“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Currency translation differences from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates
at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or
loss.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis
as either other income or other expenses depending on
whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net
loss position.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

DHEREIEH
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EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a
non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
‘highest and best use’ or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its ‘highest and best
use’.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

o Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

o Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement
are directly or indirectly observable; and

o Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement
are unobservable.
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EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Operating segments gD
An operating segment is a component of the Group that HEESHERNEERRU S REER (B

engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that
relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are
reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”), who is the chief operating decision maker, to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and

FEAEEEMEBEXNTINRSHEH
m M Es R FIS) MR SRR B AR ER D ©
R R AR B ERNME ZED EH
RERE  AEETBUEE (TTHER ]
BIEREERRE) G EMBMILAIERTE
anfel st o &SR AL B R e FEHE D #PAH R R -
ZEDMEENBIMNRBEHERZ A BR

to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial KW E26 - BIEAAHERA 23D WO A
information is available. Additional disclosures on each of these ERDMERH T EELE -

segments are shown in Note 26 to the consolidated financial

statements, including the factors used to identify the reportable

segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items MITRERSRNO ST EERIEEEER
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be R—1ED BHIIEE RiZEBEXER 5
allocated on a reasonable basis. IHA -

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire property, plant and equipment.

DHEAAXRPARBENE  BER
AR T EE A YA o

Earnings per share SREF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or GREARZFTGBEBAA T T EEDEE
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by AFEIG1E R A ﬁﬁﬂl¢r|ﬁ?ﬁfﬂﬁﬁl\2i

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share
options granted to employees, if any.

BIRAR (D 8 0 T R o

BREERNTRBRAEECEEER
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EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

3  Property, Plant and Equipment 3 WE - WENEE
Building on

leasehold Plant and Motor Furnishingsand ~ Construction-

land machinery vehicles  improvements in-progress
(at valuation) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) Total

BELHE

BEY BER#ES RE FARER EEIR
() (e (REE) (REE) (e %) &t
$:000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
THI FH FHT THI TR FHT

Cost or valuation FAZfh{E

At1.10.2021 R2021E10A1A 10,654 209 1,929 - 2,541 15,333
Addttions AE - - - 20 505 525
Disposals & - - (81) - - (81)
Transfers E47 - 506 - 246 (752) -
Revaluation El 189 - - - - 189
At30.9.2022 #2022F9 308 10,843 715 1,848 266 2,204 15,966
Additions AE - 136 191 117 215 79
Disposals HE - - (135) - - (135)
Transfers £1% - 2,202 - 130 (2,332 -
Revaluation Ef (264) - - - - (264)
At 30.9.2023 R2023595 300 10,579 3,053 1,904 513 207 16,286

Accumulated depreciation Z3tiTE

At1.10.2021 R2021E10A18 654 28 699 - - 1,381

Depreciation (Note 19) TE (MH19) 174 44 155 25 - 398
Disposals & - - (68) - - (58)
Revaluation A 15 - - - - 15
At30.9.2022 R2022F9A30H 843 72 796 25 - 1,736
Depreciation (Note 19) TE (MzH19) 263 9% 150 38 - 547
Disposals HE - - (50) - - (50)
Revaluation Bff (27 - - - - @7
At 30.9.2023 #2023E9A30H 1,079 168 896 63 - 2,206
Carrying amount RAE

At 30.9.2023 #2023E9A30H 9,500 2,885 1,008 450 27 14,080
At30.9.2022 H2022F9A30H 10,000 643 1,062 241 2,29 14,230
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3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Construction-in-progress relates mainly to machines procured
by the Group for the purpose of production of tissue products.
As at 30.9.2023, the machines are being upgraded by the
manufacturer to the latest technical specifications.

During the financial year ended 30.9.2023, cash payments of
$719,000 (2022: $1,036,000) were made for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment. During the financial year ended
30.9.2022, cash payments include payments of $109,000 in
relation to retention sums for renovation works which were
withheld in prior years and $402,000 which were accrued and
unpaid in prior years.

As at 30.9.2023, the building on leasehold land with carrying
amount of $9,500,000 (2022: $10,000,000) was pledged to a
financial institution for other banking facilities (2022: a bank loan
and other banking facilities) granted to the Group (Note 13).

Building on leasehold land

The building on leasehold land is an industrial property located
at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore 637590. The property
comprises a factory built on one parcel of leasehold land. Sale
or transfer of the building on leasehold land held for own use is
subject to consent from the Government leasehold estate.

The building is a three-storey factory with a gross floor area of
4,189.1 sgq.m. The first two storeys with a gross floor area of
2,993.4 sgq.m. was completed in 2003. Construction of a third
storey with a gross floor area of 1,195.7 sgq.m. commenced in
2019 and was completed in 2022. The leasehold land has a
total site area of 2,999.9 sg.m. It is held under the Government
leasehold estate and leased for an initial term of 30 years
commencing from 16.8.2000 and expiring on 15.8.2030, with
an option to renew for an additional term of 30 years
commencing on 16.8.2030 and expiring on 15.8.2060 (Note 4).

Y% - BB MR ()
FRIBEESRASEAEEGERE
MRS 28 - 7R 2023F 9 430 H - #
2 IEE B RE R FHR B SR O BRI AR AR o

REE20283F9A30HLEHBFE " A
BETYWE - KERRKMBZHT 719,000
7L (2022 4 : 1,036,00070) IR & &
F2022F9RA30H LU BFE - Beft
FEFE109,000 T ER AT A F N B B T
BRBLEMMOFIAE - LUWRAT—FEE
K ¥ #9402,000 7T °

7202349 A30 R + & M 189,500,000 7T
(20224 : 10,000,000 7T ) 9 FA & £t 3
EMERLE—REBIBUREAREER
BEEAMIBITRIE (20224 « RITER K
HRITRE) (FIFE13) °

ZHE L EEEY

ZIEE T FEREEY R 11 Tuas South
Street 5 Singapore 637590 ) T ¥ 473 -
ZUEDE—EREEN—EBHEELM -
HESNEERSAEANHEE L FREY
BRBNHERMERE -

ZEFEA-_ERENBAEZEEBELY
4,189.1F 7oK o E W B 7 2008 F & BK
R4 SEE AR 492,993.4 F 5 K ° 20194F
FAIEEE - BFELEMER 1,195.7
K% 2022 5T o %M E T ) 4
BETEL2,9909FHK - HBHEBFHEE
FEiERE - HEVF RH304F - 82000
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3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Revaluation of building on leasehold land

Management has engaged a firm of independent professional
valuers to perform valuation of the building on leasehold land,
having regard to the valuers’ recognised and relevant
professional qualifications and recent experience in the location

and category of the property being valued.

In determining the fair value of the building on leasehold land,
the valuers used the market approach. Based on the valuation
report as at 30.9.2023, the fair value was determined to be
$9,500,000 (2022: $10,000,000). As at 30.9.2023, the
revaluation deficit of $197,000 (2022: revaluation surplus of
$144,000) (after deducting the related tax of $40,000 (2022:
$30,000) (Note 11)) was recognised in other comprehensive
income.

The carrying amount of the building on leasehold land that
would have been recognised had it been carried under the cost

model was $3,869,000 (2022: $3,994,000).

Fair value hierarchy

As at 30.9.2023, the fair value measurement for the building on
the leasehold land has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value
based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

Level 3 fair values
The changes in Level 3 fair value, which comprised a
reconciliation from the opening to the ending balance, is set out
in the table above.
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3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Revaluation of building on leasehold land (Continued)

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation technique used in

measuring the Level 3 fair value hierarchy, as well as the

significant unobservable inputs used:

M -~ BB MR (8)
E4EE L I REY ()
BRI R EAT ARG A IE

TRINTAEZEIR A FEBRHMAE M
BERMN - LARPAANERNTAERE A

%

Inter-relationship
between key

unobservable
Significant inputs and
Valuation unobservable fair value

Description technique inputs measurement Range
FETTERHA
HEHRAVETE

ik R {E B EXTAEHERAEE <ZBHEDER EE

Building on leasehold Market approach by Adjustments applied to A significant increase in -~ 2023: Discount of

land — industrial

property in Singapore

MAE+H PRy —
RNk T ¥ %

making reference to
comparable sale
transactions as
available in the
Singapore market.

TisE - BB MK
SRR E LR
HER S °

market comparables,

taking into consideration

the remaining lease
tenure, timing of such
transactions and
location of comparable
properties.

OB IR A FRA

HE BEEHT
HEFH ABRHH
B AT & LB
HIRLE -

market selling prices
would result in a
significantly higher fair
value measurement,
and vice versa.

TSEEAELTE

BHATENE
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4 Right-of-use asset

4 (EHEEE

Prepaid
differential Leasehold
premium land Total
HAAHIEE HE L At
$'000 $'000 $°000
T+ T T
Cost 2%
At 1.10.2021, 30.9.2022 A2021F10818 -
and 30.9.2023 202269H30A K
20239 H30H 506 296 802
Accumulated depreciation 23t
At 1.10.2021 R2021F10A1H 93 55 148
Depreciation (Note 19) e (FsE19) 47 27 74
At 30.9.2022 #2022 9 A 30 H 140 82 222
Depreciation (Note 19) e (H3E19) 46 27 73
At 30.9.2023 7A2023F9A30H 186 109 295
Carrying amount EREE
At 30.9.2023 A2023F9A30H 320 187 507
At 30.9.2022 7202299 A30H 366 214 580
Prepaid differential premium relates to the payment for the lifting ERMosHESEARKRELEHEHEL

of plot ratio restriction on the leasehold land title. P e BR il 1 SZ A A9 FRIE o
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5 Software licences

5 EFIRTE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
$°000 $'000
Fx T
Cost AR
At 1 October ®10A1H 98 31
Additions nE - 67
At 30 September RO AS30H 98 98
Accumulated amortisation E-5g: £
At 1 October R10A1H 41 21
Amortisation (Note 19) BoE (M3E19) 14 20
At 30 September RO A30H 55 41
Carrying amount ERME{E
At 1 October ®10A1H 57 10
At 30 September MROHA30H 43 57

The amortisation of software licences is included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Software licenses mainly relate to an online self-order and
payment portal procured by the Group.

BHETENBE ARG RS EME

R R AT °

SRR X 2R BRBEOEREBR]

BMPIFER -
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6 Inventories FE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 £
$000 $'000
Fx Tt

As cost: RN
Raw materials FER# 90 -
Goods-in-transit TEEEM 136 112
Finished goods BURK T 759 902
985 1,014

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense and included in cost of sales is as follows:

ERRFAXLFAABEREANTESED

Mo

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
$°000 $000
Tr Tt
Cost of inventories recognised in cost RIEERAERNFERA
of sales (Note 19) (Mt3E19) 9,418 8,529

120 SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
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7 Trade and Other Receivables 7 B KEMEWGKIE
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Trade receivables from third parties REE=FTHE SHERFRIA 2,411 2,199
Other receivables H e YR 22 10
Deposits me 41 4
2,474 2,213
Less: Allowance for impairment losses B OREEE (37) -
Financial assets at amortised cost R SHR AR DIBR R IS B B 2,437 2,213
Government grant receivable JE AR BT 4 B 492 -
Advances to suppliers T TR ERE R R 22 57
Tax recoverable i B FE LR - 140
2,951 2,410

The Group generally extends credit period of O to 30 days REB —MARFPIEEZEEHOE30H
(2022% : 0E30R)  HEFEFMER
BEEH NREL BsRMBENM
E o AEEERRE B 2 REFIRESR R

RERP HROE -

(2022: 0 to 30 days) to customers, depending on the length of
business relationship, payment history, background and
financial strength of the customers. The Group actively reviews
the trade receivable balances and follows up on outstanding
debts with the customers.

Trade receivables arise from customers in Singapore. B EREWZIBREFIENEZE o

Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group’s trade RIEHEHE AEFE S EKTIENE

receivables is as follows:

et

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4

$°000 $000

T T

0 to 30 days 0% 30H 1,243 1,218
31 to 60 days 31E60H 870 793
61 to 90 days 61290 H 275 181
Over 90 days 3B 90 H 23 7
2,411 2,199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

7 Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 7 B 5 RHAMEWGRIE (&)
Based on due dates, ageing analysis of trade receivables that RIEFAIA - MARRENE 5 ERRIED
are not impaired is as follows: BRECHITIOT -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

$’000 $000

T FT

Not past due 7 4% 460 B 1,325 1,224

Past due 0 to 30 days #HEI0E30H 774 787

Past due 31 to 60 days #E31260H 227 181

Past due 61 to 90 days BHEI6G1 £ 00 H 85 7

2,411 2,199

Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no HERFEYELNER  AEERZHESYE S

impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade EWMFIBERBERE  REALSEW
receivables, as they mainly arise from customers that have a FETEREANERES R ITEE0RE

good credit record with the Group. BB o

The movement of allowance for impairment loss of other
receivables during the financial year was as follows.

AW B FE BB EBEREEMT

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 fF

$°000 $'000

Fx T+

At 1 October ®10A1H - _
Allowance for impairment loss B 1R 37 -
At 30 September MROHAB0H 37 -

Trade and other receivables are denominated in SGD. B 5 N E b pEW R IE Ty LA N TTEHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

8 Cash and Bank Balances 8 IBeMiF1T4s
2023 2022
2023 &£ 2022
$°000 $°000
¥ F
Cash on hand FHEBES 3 -
Cash in bank RITIRE 1,219 807
Fixed deposits FEHFR 500 -
1,722 807

The fixed deposits have a maturity date of 3 months and the
effective interest rate is 2.40% per annum.

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following

EHMERNZHARIMEA - BERFEME

52.40% o

R MRITHEBTIA TN EETE

currencies:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
$’°000 $°000
Fr Tt
SGD AN T 1,712 777
HKD BT 10 30
1,722 807
9 Share Capital 9 JEAK

2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 F 20224 2023 2022 F
Number of ordinary shares $°000 $000
ZEREE Fr F

Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At 1 October and 30 September »1081H X9 A 30H 800,000,000 800,000,000 1,338 1,338

The ordinary shares of the Company have par value of HK$0.01
each.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at shareholders’ meetings. All shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

AR EERZEE0.01/8TT °

ERRBAEABRURBAEEIRARE -
BEEBRARBRERRGR—F - BAR
BZRBEEMS MEBROKBZFERE

AT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

10 Reserves 10 f#&E

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Share premium B mE 6,221 6,221
Merger reserve =il 580 580
Revaluation reserve BHFEE 5,279 5,476
Retained earnings IR EF 3,410 2,760
15,490 15,037

Share premium R 1% E

Share premium represents the excess of proceeds from the
issuance of new ordinary shares over the nominal value of the
shares issued, net of share issue expenses.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the excess of the share capital
of Sunlight Paper, which is the sole operating subsidiary of the
Group, over the consideration given in the Reorganisation. The
merger reserve is not available for distribution to Shareholders.

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of building on
leasehold land under the revaluation model (Note 3). The
revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to the
Company’s shareholders.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

11

Deferred Tax Liabilities

11

Movements in deferred tax liabilities during the financial year are

EXEHBERE
RE B BEEAREEREREEDN

as follows: K
Recognised Recognised
Recognised in in other Recognised in in other
profit or loss ~ comprehensive profit or loss  comprehensive
At 1.10.2021 (Note 21) income  At30.9.2022 (Note 21) income  At30.9.2023
RoO21E  RBEER  REM2E Ro02E  MBREER  REA2E R 20235
10718 (Mt 21) kR 9A30A (Riztor) bR 9A30R
$000 §000 §000 §000 $000 $000 $000
T Thr Fhr Fhr TH TH7 THr
Property, plant and equipment 1% - BEREE
— depreciation -HE 182 1) - 60 71 - 131
— revaluation - Ef 1,089 - 0 1,069 - (40) 1,029
Unutiised tax losses FORHEER 2 2 - - - - -
Capital allowances BREE - ) - (77) m - -
1147 (125) 30 1,052 148 (40) 1,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

12 Deferred Capital Grant 12 EEE ARG
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 fF
$°000 $000
Tr T
At 1 October ®10HA1H 48 -
Recognition of deferred capital grant HERIEIE & AN B 492 56
Amortisation g (21) 8)
At 30 September MR9A30H 519 48

Sunlight Paper received grant from the Singapore government
to support the purchase of certain property, plant and
equipment and software licences. The deferred capital grant is
amortised over the useful lives of the corresponding property,
plant and equipment and software licences for a period of 20
years and 5 years respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

13 Borrowings 13 fEx
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 FF
$°000 $000
Tr T
Current TE
Bank loan RITE R - 9
Terms and conditions R R ARG
The terms and conditions of borrowings at the end of the R E—REBAROETIERZIEERT -
previous reporting period were as follows:
Nominal Year of Face Carrying
Currency interest rate maturity value amount
B SEAIE BHEH [ENEL REE
$000 $000
T Fr
2022 20226 SGD 2023
Bank loan RITER T 3.0% 2023% 9 9

In 2022, the bank loan was secured by the Group’s building on
leasehold land (Note 3) and a corporate guarantee from the
Company. In addition, the bank loan imposed certain financial
covenants, as follows:

° market value of the building on leasehold land to be not
less than $6,300,000; and

° the amount under the bank loan owing to the bank shall
not at any time exceed 70% of the market value of the
building on leasehold land.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has other
unutilised banking facilities of $3,500,000 (2022: $3,500,000).

R2022F - IRITER AR EENHEE L
M Y (M 5E3) RAA A A FAER
IR o AN - IRITE M NS T 1535
U

o  MELMEREVHNHSEENMER
6,300,000 7T : &

RITERE N RIBITH S BE (T
{FEASHRBIE T FREY IS
EERI70% °

BEREHR  NEEHEBEEMRERAD
#RITRELE 3,500,000 7T (2022 £F : 3,500,000
Yo

dl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

14 Lease Liability 14 HEEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
Undiscounted lease payments due: RT3 ERER AR R R ENR
— Year 1 — F14 33 33
— Year 2 —F2F 33 33
— Year 3 — E3%F 32 33
— Year 4 — FA4FE 32 32
— Year 5 — E5%F 32 32
— Year 6 and onwards — FeFERHE 67 100
229 263
Less: Unearned interest cost B AR BREUR SR AN (27) (37)
202 226
Represented by: =
— Non-current — ERE 176 200
— Current — R 26 26
202 226
Rental expenses not capitalised in lease liability but recognised HeRIRENMLAHEERE  HERTX
within administrative expenses in profit or loss are set out BT PR
below:
2023 2022
2023 fF 2022 4F
$°000 $000
Ft T
Short-term leases EHMEE - 22
The Group’s short-term lease commitments are not AREEBNEEHRERENRZES|MAFE
substantially dissimilar to those giving rise to the Group’s short- AEENEHHEEY EEEHESAEL
term lease expense for the year. MEAEER-

128  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023
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RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

14 Lease Liability (Continued)
Total cash outflows for leases

Total cash outflows for leases for the financial year are as

follows:

14 HEAE®
BERS K LG

AP BERERERSMEAENT

2023 2022

2023 &£ 2022 %

$’000 $°000

T FT

Payment of lease liabilities HEAENSH 34 32
Payment of short-term leases SR ppsE:tlizka - 22
34 54

Further information about the financial risk management is

disclosed in Note 28.

15 Trade and Other Payables

B -

BRAMBRARERNE - P ENNME28

15 B NMHMERMNFE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

$’°000 $'000

5 Fi

Trade payables to third parties ENE=FESEMNFE 841 795
Accrued directors’ fees EFTESHES 100 100
Accrued employee benefits et R B & T 458 357
Accrued expenses JEETRX 42 122
Other payables H b 3RIE 19 4
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LKA RN BB E 1,460 1,415
Net output tax HIBFFEE 94 51
1,554 1,466

The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is

approximately 30 days (2022: 30 days).

(20224 : 30K)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

15 Trade and Other Payables (Continued)

Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group’s trade

15

B 5 N E M EN O )

REZHZRH  AEEEZEMNFENK

payables is as follow: o
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
0 to 30 days 0& 30K 550 472
31 to 60 days 31 E60K 260 299
61 to 90 days 61E90K 31 24
841 795
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following B REMERZATIEEE :
currencies:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 fF
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
SGD N T 1,415 1,466
uUsD E 139 -
1,554 1,466
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for financial year ended 30.9.2023
EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

16

17

18

Revenue 16 W&
Significant categories of revenue, excluding applicable goods BEAmE R MR - EAKEER
and services tax, are detailed as follows: FRILLAT ¢
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 fF
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Revenue from contracts with customers & FE & Uiz
— Sale of goods — HEEMm 14,596 12,020
Timing of transfer of goods Bl O R
— At a point in time — RE—BREE 14,596 12,020
Other Income 17 HAMUA
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 fF
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BE MKEENKRE
plant and equipment 34 12
Government grants* AT BN * 30 63
Interest income FEUA 1 -
Sundry income FETEUTA 5 26
Trademark income EZHA - 10
70 111

*

Included in government grants is an amount of amortisation of

deferred capital grant of $21,000 (2022: $8,000).

* BFHB R e EECE AN S E
21,000 7T (2022 4 : 8,0007T) °

Finance Costs 18 BB A
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
$°000 $’000
Fr FT

Interest expenses on: ATHFERAE :

— bank loan — RITEX - 3
— lease liability - HEARE 10 9
10 12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

19 Profit Before Taxation 19 BREADR A
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
Note $'000 $000
BieE T T
Profit before taxation has B HIRR LA T B IR IR T AT
been arrived at after charging: il
Amortisation of software licences BRI B 5 14 20
Auditor’s remuneration Gk 42 40
Cost of inventories recognised in REEERAERHFERA
cost of sales 6 9,418 8,529
Depreciation of property, WE  BERRETE
plant and equipment 3 547 398
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEENE 4 73 74
Staff costs (including Directors’ BIRA (BIEEEHH
remuneration (Note 20)) (P#E20))
— salaries and other related costs — FeREMBERA 2,360 1,941
— contributions to defined — FUE MG AR
contribution plans 137 126
2,497 2,067
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for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

20 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid 20 EE&HMMkAZ &= AT

Individuals
20.1 Directors’ remuneration 20.1 E=HHF
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Discretionary Defined
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 24
BB REUEA g REM &t
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i r r T i
2023 2023F
Executive Directors: HIEE:
Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBRE % 258 57 11 351
Mr. Chua Liang Chui BRARE 25 216 37 1 289
Mr. Chua Wenhao BEnA 2% 148 10 14 197
Mr. Chua Wenjie BYARE 25 150 7 13 195
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #4778 % -
Mr. Tog Chek Soon it e 10 - - - 10
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie BEXBREE 10 - - - 10
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia BRILT 10 - - - 10
130 72 1 49 1,062
2022 202F
Executive Directors: HTEE:
Mr. Chua Liang Sie BRERE 25 234 57 10 326
Mr. Chua Liang Chui BRARE 25 192 29 10 256
Mr. Chua Wenhao -3y % 122 7 13 167
Mr. Chua Wenjie BUAREE 25 114 7 13 159
Independent non-executive Directors: B/ 3F/7E% -
Mr. Tog Chek Soon mEIELE 10 - - - 10
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie EXREE 10 - - - 10
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Syhia REILT 10 - - - 10
130 662 100 46 938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

20 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid
Individuals (Continued)

20.1

20.2

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

During the financial year, no Director or any of the highest
paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments (2022: nil). No emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors or any of the highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office as
a Director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the affairs of
any member of the Group (2022: nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 4
(2022: 4) Directors for the year, whose emoluments are
reflected in Note 20.1.

The analysis of the emolument of the remaining 1 (2022:
1) highest paid individual (who is a key management
personnel) for the year is set out below:

20 BEEHFMLREEESHFAT®E

20.1

20.2

EEHM ()

RAMBFE  BEESESET AR
FALIHESRAERETAH €
(20224 : f8) - NEFEMMmMES
EREBFMERTALZAMESE
ARSI EMARER L MAKERDE
HEREREAREAAEBEMKER
REEBA KRS R AEEEMAKE
R R EIEH B E A E B A E
(20224 : #&) o

hEEEHFALT

RERN - AEBRERSFHALEE
48 (2022F 1 4B )EE - HB&5F
BERAMIEE20.1 ©

RER - 18 (2022F - 18) &
BHAT(HERIZEEAE) NN
EOMEFIOT

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4

$000 $'000

Fx Tt

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  #4 « 2B R EWEF 222 199
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 55 45
Defined contributions FUE MK 15 13
292 257

The emolument paid to this individual fell within the
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 band for the financial
year ended 30.9.2023 (2022: HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000 band).
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for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable

21 Taxation 21 IA
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
$’000 $°000
T Tt
Current taxation BN ERTR 18
— current year — REE 54 -
— changes in estimates in respect of — BEFENHTE
prior years - (107)
54 (107)
Deferred taxation (Note 11) EIERTE (FIFE11)
— current year — RFE 198 102
— changes in estimates in respect of — BAFEMNME
prior years (50) (227)
148 (125)
202 (232)
The tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from XTNARZE  UBFEANEENBRL

M B RINERBERNGFHENAEHE

rate of income tax on accounting profits as a result of the FiEEMAEResE
following:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
$°000 $°000
Fx Tt
Profit before taxation B A R 852 28
Tax at statutory rates applicable to #ARTR BERER M)A E R R
different jurisdictions 178 36
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses AT IF B X T I 2 28 100 67
Tax effect on non-taxable income FERRR M AT 5 28 9) (1)
Tax exempt income BRUA (17) -
Changes in estimates in respect of BREFEOGHE
prior years
— current taxation — BER%IA - (107)
— deferred taxation — R IA (50) (227)
202 (232)

Non-deductible expenses mainly relate to depreciation of non-

qualifying property, plant and equipment.

AEAGHEREIEETABNYE - K

BRI ERR -
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EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

21

22

Taxation (Continued)

Cayman Islands

The Company is not subject to taxes on profit, income or
dividends in the Cayman Islands.

BVI
The subsidiary in BVI, SPP Investments, is not subject to
income tax as it is tax exempted under the laws of BVI.

Singapore

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the principal
operating subsidiary in Singapore, Sunlight Paper, is 17% for
the financial years ended 30.9.2023 and 30.9.2022.

Earnings per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share was
based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of
$650,000 (2022: $260,000), and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding of 800,000,000 (2022:
800,000,000).

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding in the financial years ended 30.9.2023 and
30.9.2022.

136  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

21

22

TR ()
MERE
RATBERBESHENRF - WALR
BRR -

RERLHEES
HRRERBREZHSWE R AISPP
Investments IR IE R B R L B AR ER R
W WBBENFTEH -

03

W £2023F 9 A30H K&202249 A30
At BFEEHRMEEZELLEME QT
Sunlight Paperil AR (R ZEFTE TR B17% o

SR F

BRERREFERMDIRE L BRKR
JEE &% 1) 650,000 75 (2022 4F : 260,000 7T)
R BEATIESING E B AR A N F 15 2
800,000,000 % (2022 4F : 800,000,000 f% )

N
FTE o

8 =2023%9 430 H K202249 A30
AL RFEL BETHEINECEEE
A A SRESRNRSRELRAF
e
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for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

23 Equity-settled Share-based Payment 23 URERGEEURN BERNN
Transactions T
The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option RARE—IEERE S ([IEAREETE ) -
Scheme”) which was approved and adopted by the ZIBRERRRERT EIE AR AR RN 20184 3
shareholders of the Company by way of written resolutions Ao1BBBEmMARRMERRN - BF
passed on 21.3.2018. No share option has been granted since RSt BRI LATK - BURIR I B AR -

the commencement of the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share T AERETSIEZGRIME -
Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme (a) BRETEINEN
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the BARERT S B RS AR REES
Company to grant options to selected participants as HATENERE  (EARFHAR
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the BIFTEE RAR 2B Sk Bl 4
Company.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme and (b) BRENBZSHEATIREEREE
eligibility criteria
The eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme to AEEEGR THERE 2 ERET S
whom options may be granted by the Board shall include AERZEATAESE2HEDER
any directors, employee, executives, officers, suppliers, AEAREEELERE - ERIEEM
customers, consultants, agents, advisers, joint venture EEEE  1THABR  a4EE -
partners and related entities, who at the absolute HER TP #FWAREE
discretion of the Board, has contributed to the Group - 5EBHERIEBERE((5E8A
(“Eligible Person”). )

() Maximum number of Shares available for () EEAHIABRAHE
subscription
The total number of Shares which may be issued upon BRI R B H A AT R AR i 18
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share TR A] FEITROR (D (B EA KT E
Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed {838 80,000,000 % (FHE R ZZ4 A
80,000,000, representing 10% of the total number of B mEAPNEHITRMEBH
Shares in issue as at the date of these consolidated 10%) °

financial statements.
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EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

23 Equity-settled Share-based Payment 23 UEREEURN AERANN

Transactions (Continued)

(d)

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Person
(including both exercised and outstanding options under
the Share Option Scheme) in any 12-month period (when
aggregated with any Shares subject to options granted
during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company other than those options
granted pursuant to specific approval by the Shareholders
in a general meeting) must not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) under the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant: (i) representing in
aggregate more than 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (i)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must
be approved by the Shareholders.

138  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

AR B @)

(d)

BEEERATTZLR
EAEMI2EAHE RTFTEEER
AT HERAE (R R R BT 8
EATE R R ARITERNERE) EITE
e &7 FREITHRM AR &
X2 ARRIEAR D R E AR AR
SRR BERE (TRERERR
PR RS EEREET X H 7S
B TR ERROEF - T
SHEBARBCHITHRAN1%

fHm—ZEBRANBLIERNTES
FEARESEZHBEATE L AW
ERE SRR EEEERE A
(8% AB) IE12@ AR - RIEE
AR AE T S gl AN A B o] EL Atk B AR A AT
ZE MR TZATZ A BRE
(BIEETE  EFEERERITESN
BRI ) BT BERKTHITZ
B2 ()& LBBE EITRMDO01%
R(i)ESRE AR mEgARER
FTo sk Bt E - BEBIRES
BEAT  AE—PERNBERENEA
BRI o
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EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

23 Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions (Continued)

(e)

U]

Time of exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28
days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the option
period. After the expiration of the option period, no further
options shall be offered or granted but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in all other respects. Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after
the end of the ten-year period.

Subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme, subject to any
adjustments made in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must be a
Business Day); (i) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a Business Day);
and (jii) the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration
of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of the
grant of an option.

At s B AR RER
&

T X

AR B @)

(e)

U]

TR R R
SEATAREROBEENEZOR
HIfER 28 H AR MBI - B8
s v ] A 8 i A B S AR R B A A
FHEIZIRFRATEE - BBRE R E R
% BAE2HRHIR L EMFEI
BERHE - RS Bl 2 R EFT A
Hip 7 EE A+ BB R - 7
BRAEBDAB R AR H
FBRHE - £+ FHIR w1 A8 AT AR IR
WER 2 FRRBRTTRE -

RIBE

IR IR B AR 5 B33 O (R BB A P
W R B MR IEE (RIR B AT &)
ATHBR)REFE2RNBEEEN
B ERERTHSERTIIRS
EOBROREHBRERR(LAR
EXER)EREBXMERAKRERMN
FWUTTE ¢ (i) B N BRI LR E
FH(BASEER)MABEEER
EB XS R RERAR YL
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23 Equity-settled Share-based Payment 23

Transactions (Continued)

(g) Life of the Share Option Scheme
The Company may, by ordinary resolution in general
meeting, or the Board may at any time terminate the
operation of the Share Option Scheme and in such event
no further option shall be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and options granted
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
Subject to the aforesaid, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of adoption, after which
period no further options will be offered or granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects with respect to
options granted during the life of the Share Option
Scheme.

24 Significant Related Party Transactions 24
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, there were no significant related party transactions
for the financial years ended 30.9.2023 and 30.9.2022.

25 Commitments 25
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting
period but not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements is as follows:

PARE s 5 B DARR ) I E R B9

T X

=+
TAX
(9)

ESPN

2 ()

BREFENEREE
ARA(BBERRAGEBE @R
AR NEEGUNERRMRLE
ferEst BIMEE - BRI EHENE
kR R A - BRI &R
EMBEMTEBERS TR RE
R MARBARRT B LR B
RS A B AR B PB BE R T B R B U
A TIT6E o A LMERRT - BAUE
SRR B BT T ERBA R E
M HETSBEARD SR HER
1 - BRBRAE ST B ISR BB AR AT 3
BRHARHNBEEMSEMAE
77 EAS 445 T R AR

RESTR5

BRERa M MAE MU T PAREE I 7
# 220239 A30H K2022%F9 A30R
LHBFERBEERBETRS -

AHE

BEREE
RIBEHREFTHERNERE P HmKRE
AR EARFAT

2023 2022
2023 &£ 2022 %
$°000 $'000
Ft Tt
Capital commitments in respect of E - BEMREELR®
property, plant and equipment BARAEYE 119 341
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26 Operating Segments

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker, who
is the Group’s CEOQ, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance is specifically focused on the key
products sold, namely, tissue products and hygiene-related
products.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is
included below. Performance is measured based on the
following bases, as included in the internal management reports
that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO. Both segment revenue
and profit are used to measure performance as management
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating
the level of activities and results of these segments.

° Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Assistance provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

° The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit.

° Management considers the disclosure of segment assets
and liabilities for tissue products, hygiene-related products

26

AN N 37
:%I = 7] DB

mMEZEERKE(RERDTHRER)E
BEMBN RO RERLFHRE A
EPREIZHEER HLERERNE
EHREER -

ERARAE2RDMOFEEHFINT -
FERBREKAEBTHRARENHNN
MERBRENTINEEGSE - D EMER
BRI EES  DEEEREZSE
ERRHEZENEEBKEREEST T
wAAR

o  WHEERAXINZ2EANZRNMAESE
WaKkAX D EEZEMYE o L&
R Eb 2 TR I1HE) - BEDMEE
o

o EHNEENFAAFTEEE/SER -

s EEREERRSERBEFELEMRER &
EHREERREMDFEEMAEL

and others respectively is not practical and not TERITEES - Bit - IEKES
meaningful. Hence, no disclosure of segment assets and HEERAE-

liabilities has been made.

° In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue.

There are no operating segments that have been aggregated to
form the above reportable operating segments.

HERSD -

o REFSBEEDINENED
) ERERS -

EEERREME UL

BES OHE L D AR AR Ll AT 2 s e

DER e
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26 Operating Segments (Continued) 26 KEDE @)
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
BE
BEEER HEBER Hit st
$000 $'000 $'000 $000
Tt v Ft Tt
2023 2023 &£
Revenue from external K EINEE P U ER
customers and reportable PEIEE R e
segment revenue 13,013 894 689 14,596
Segment profit o 2B5% F 3,929 369 236 4,534
2022 2022 F
Revenue from external R EINIE F YU
customers and reportable K] 2 85 2B
segment revenue 10,579 878 563 12,020
Segment profit 7385 F) 2,343 332 107 2,782
Reconciliations of reportable segment profit o 2 |7 IEFWE IR
2023 2022
2023 2022 fF
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Reportable segment profit A 235 2B A 4,534 2,782
Other income =N 70 111
Unallocated expenses OB (3,742) (2,853)
Interest expenses FER% (10) (12)
Consolidated profit before taxation 4R A BRTE BT S A 852 28
The Group’s revenue arises from external customers located in REBHWES R B RFTINERIINEER S ©
Singapore. The Group carries out its operations in Singapore REEBRTINEHETEE - BAEEME
and all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in FEMENE N AR N o
Singapore.
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20

27

Operating Segments (Continued)
Major customers

The following are major customers with revenue equal to or
more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue for the financial

26

W AR /37 =
KD E(E)

FEEF
AR R BIE 2023 9 A 30 H K 2022 9
H30 R LEFBRFEIEAREE B BEFR

years ended 30.9.2023 and 30.9.2022: HEZER10% I EER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Customer A BEA 2,507 1,749
Customer B ZFEB 1,613 1,365
4,120 3,114

Subsidiaries 27 MIBARA]

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the financial year are:

Name Principal activities

L TEEH

RAFBREERNMBARFERS -

Country of
incorporation/
Principal place
of business
and form

of business
structure
HMAIER/
TEEREHER
ERREYA

Particulars of

issued and fully

paid up share

capital Percentage of equity held

BETR

BRRARMEE FrERERD L
2023

2023

2022
20226

Held by the Company BADNAMES

SPP Investments Limited ©  Investment holding
RERR

SPP Investments Limited @

H SPP Investments
Limited 755

Sunlight Paper Products
Pte. Ltd. ©

Held by SPP Investments
Limited
Sunlight Paper Products

Pte. Ltd. © corporate customers

MAERPIREREEER

@ Not required to be audited

©) Audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP, a principal member firm of HLB

International

Supply of tissue products to

BVI/Singapore,
limited liability
company

EBRAEE/
g - BREL

A

Singapore/
Singapore,
limited liability
company

R/ $E
BREAAT

$1 100% 100%

$580,000 100% 100%

BATINEZ
i Foo Kon Tan LLP CAEBIBR £ ZRK E A
EE:A
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28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 28 ISR EIE B R NIER

Policies

The Group has documented financial risk management policies.
These policies set out the Group’s overall business strategies
and its risk management philosophy. The Group is exposed to
financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and market price
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial
markets on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these
financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risks. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity
analysis for interest rate risk (Note 28.3) and foreign currency
risk (Note 28.4).

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against
fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

28.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other
receivables. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the
practice of dealing only with those customers of
appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient security
where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other
financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing
only with high credit quality counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual growth while
minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk
exposure.

The Group has established a credit policy under which
the creditworthiness of each new customer is evaluated
individually before the Group grants credit to the
customer. Credit limits are established for each customer,
which represents the maximum open amount without
requiring approval from the directors. Payments will be
required to be made upfront by customers which do not
meet the Group’s credit requirements.

Amounts due from customers are closely monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis to identify any non-payment
or delay in payment, and to understand the reasons, so
that appropriate actions can be taken promptly. Through
on-going credit monitoring and existing collection
procedures in place, credit risk is mitigated substantially.

The Group’s trade receivables comprise six major debtors
(2022: three major debtors), which individually represent
more than 5% of the Group’s trade receivables as at
30.9.20283. The aggregate balance of the major debtors
represent 51% (2022: 33%) of trade receivables.

28

SRR EIE B IENMBGR (8)

28.1 =EER

EERRZEVB AN —TTEREE
BITEHMERAEEELYHER
HER - AEEEENEERREE
KEEHMEMBYIR - SLE HE
WA E - ARBENBUERERE
BERBRIFNEPRS - UHEEER
RTEBFE D O REAREEER
%o BN EMUFEE - AEBEMIK
RRERSEEERNEFIIENTR
5 o

AEER B ERNERFFEE NN R
R A B = B R BRI A0 22 AR A &S

18

AEBDAIMEERE - B A%
B EPRTEREANGHEEHE
PEEBETEMNFE - SREFPY
EBREEERSE  REHAKESHE
MEREAEESR THAARERE
BEERNEPAFRLINFRIE -

AEBZERLEREHEEEP
FIA - AR RN FOR S B B
oW THETRRA - {EMERRR
HEETY EBFENEEERNR
BoVRFER  FEERRD KER
1K °

AEENE BB FBRIENEAXE
BEIEA(2022F : Z[@AEBEBA)
ARMEASEEHZE=2023F9A30H
NESEBFIEBRNS% AL - TEEF
BANBAREEEWE HEFN51%
(20224 : 33%) °
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28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 28 BFfSRER B IE B AR MR (g)
Policies (Continued)

28.1 Credit risk (Continued) 28.1 =EREk (&)

Amount not paid after the credit period granted will be
considered past due. The credit terms granted to
customers are based on the Group’s assessment of their
creditworthiness and in accordance with the Group’s

policy.

The Group has trade and other receivables and cash and
bank balances that are subject to the expected credit loss
model. While other receivables and cash and bank
balances are subject to the impairment requirements of
IFRS 9.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses (“ECLs”) which uses a
lifetime ECL allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the trade receivables. The Group has
identified gross domestic product and the unemployment
rate of the countries in which it operates to be the most
relevant factors and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, among
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group.
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28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

28.1

28.2

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

Loss allowance for other receivables is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs except for an amount of
$37,000 (2022: $nil), which is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs on the remaining other
receivables are estimated by reference to track record of
the counterparties, their business and financial conditions
where information is available, and knowledge of any
events or circumstances impeding recovery of the
amounts. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
assessed the credit exposure of these remaining other
receivables to be insignificant.

Cash and bank balances

Cash is held with banks which are regulated. Loss
allowance on cash and bank balances is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs and reflects the short
maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its
bank balances have low credit risk based on the external
credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of loss
allowance on cash and bank balances is negligible.

Exposure to credit risk

As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum
exposure to credit risk for each class of financial
instruments is the carrying amount of that class of
financial instruments presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank
deposits and trade receivables. Cash is held with
established financial institutions. Further details of credit
risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note
7.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated
with financial instruments that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk may result
from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to
its fair value.

The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and
liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of stand-by credit facilities.

28 HisREREIEBZEREBR @)
281 EER (&)
At fEN B
Hip R EBERENTESES

28.2

R12@ ABBHEEEE BRI
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28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
28.2 Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows:

28

I REREE B R REBCR ()

28.2 REBELEM(E)

TRD *ﬁzli;%l?ﬁ/m\i’]ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁﬁ
EFfENMBEENEHIE

Contractual
Carrying undiscounted Lessthan  Between 1 More than
amount cash flows 1year andb5years 5years
ENRER 15%
HREE HeRE 1R B5F R BB5E
$:000 $000 $:000 $:000 $000
T Tr T T T
2023 2023 F
Non-derivative financial JE{T4BMBEE
liabilities
Lease liabiity (Note 14)  REERE (M3 14) 202 (229) (33) (129) (67)
Trade and other payables* & 5 & E it e F08
(Note 15) (FizE15) 1,460 (1,460) (1,460) - -
1,662 (1,689) (1,493) (129) (67)
2022 2022 F
Non-derivative financial JEfT4 KA R
liabilities
Borrowings (Note 13) e GIERE) 9 9 9 - -
Lease liability (Note 14) HEEET14) 226 (263) (33) (130) (100)
Trade and other payables® 25 & H i fefS 3018
(Note 15) (7 15) 1,415 (1,415) (1,415) - -
1,650 (1,687) (1,457) (130) (100)

*

Excluding net output tax

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the
maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at
significantly different amounts.

The Group ensures that there are adequate funds to meet
all its obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner.
The Group maintains sufficient level of cash and bank
balances and has available adequate amount of
committed credit facilities from financial institutions to
meet its working capital requirements.
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28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

28.3

28.4

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily
from bank balances at floating rates. Bank loan and lease
liability bear interest at fixed rates. All other financial
assets and liabilities are interest-free.

28 BiigE ke

28.3

0B 1 B AR IR ()

F=mE kg
MEREBRAAEES T ANRTE
FARNRIRE R E R TI5M E BB M
BRBE R o

AEBEREBONERREERE T
BIRTTHER - RITERNMBAEAER
BIEREFE - PIERMBMBEER
BEARE -

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of RWEEKR - s EF B TAEREE
the interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows: AN
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
$000 $'000
Fx T
Fixed rate instruments EEITH
Financial liabilities M%aE
— bank loan — RITER - (©)
— lease liability —HEARE (202) (226)
(202) (235)
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments EET AR FEYEEST

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the
reporting period would not affect profit or loss.

The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rates available without increasing its interest rate exposure.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises when
transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising
from transactions that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, Singapore dollar (“SGD”). The foreign
currency in which these transactions are denominated is
primarily United States dollar (“USD”) and Hong Kong
dollar (“HKD”).

28.4

AEBYEARNRBEFELELES
A BBEEMEMEEMN K EER

BfE - At EHRNEESHTE
F AR -

A E BB R AT AR AR
R TR BRI -

SRR

HNERBE R TS TAEBEREXZH
MKERER - B ZAINEFHE
g HBRINERR

AEBEAARERENB AT
BRI TAIMEETHENR 5

MEARRZHEEERR - ZERXHE
BPETRABITLEME ©
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28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 28 BFfSRER B IE B AR MR (g)
Policies (Continued)
28.4 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 28.4 SRR (4E)
Consequently, the Group is exposed to movements in At - ANEEEERINEE RS S AR
foreign currency exchange rates. %
The Group’s exposures in financial instruments to various REBENRY % T ARG SBINER
foreign currencies are as follows: SN
UsbD HKD
E3 BT
$'000 $000
T T
2023 2023
Cash and bank balances We MIRTTHES - 10
Trade and other payables B 5 R E AR FE (139) -
2022 2022
Cash and bank balances e RIBITEEH - 30
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk SN B B RS SR ST
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRIREFREEMBHTENER
reasonably possible change in the USD and HKD T REBBRBIERERENER
exchange rates (against SGD), with all other variables held HETRBIT(LIFMET) HEaE
constant, of the Group’s results net of tax and equity. AIREE B BURE o
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 fF
$°000 $'000
Tr T
USD — strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) 1 — FHES% (2022 4 : 5%) 7 -
— weakened 5% (2022: 5%) — BB 5% (20224 : 5%) 7 -
HKD — strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) #1 — FHES5% (2022 4F : 5%) 1 2
— weakened 5% (2022: 5%) — AZ1E5% (20224 : 5%) 1 2
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28 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 28 BFFSRER B IR B AR MR ()
Policies (Continued)
28.5 Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial

28.5 WMiGEERK
TiHERARAVMBEIAEBERTS

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices. BRSSO ERE

NS5 B0 MR (] BTk A] i E B

BITA - F mEEREA TI5ER

The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable
financial instruments, hence, is not exposed to any

movement in market prices. FaeEk o
29 Capital Management 29 BEXNEIRE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: AERERESHNEERER

(@ To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going @ (REAREBERFELZEES
concern;

(b)  To support the Group’s stability and growth; b) ZRFAEEMZEMER:

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the ) IRMEEARLAIMNEAEE MRS EIRE
Group’s risk management capability; and ik

(d)  To provide an adequate return to shareholders. d ARERRELZSER-

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its AEBERBRBEHRN MEEEERNGEE -

capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and I%J§$%IE1§E’U§$%H?&§$W§ .

shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital EBRINTEEIM AT N - TEEEER SR

requirements of the Group, and capital efficiency, prevailing and
projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group currently does not adopt any formal
dividend policy.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the financial year.

2 FAHEAFHXIANFEHIREIRERS
HEUABREBRENEAEBRBRDE -
NEE B B AT SR BT IE OB SRR

AEBNERER T HNANMBEE AL
R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

29 Capital Management (Continued)
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt comprises
borrowings, lease liability and trade and other payables, less
cash and bank balances. Total capital represents equity
attributable to owners of the Company.

29

BAREIR ()
REELET NI BE AT, o

AEENAEERBLLREREALN  F
BEBRARERINFETR - FEBEBREE
o HEBEARE S MHE M N FRIER
ReRRITEH - RERNEARFHEAA
FEIEHELS

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

Note $’000 $°000

P& Fr Fit

Borrowings fBx 13 - 9
Lease liability HE&E 14 202 226
Trade and other payables Z 5 REMENFOE 15 1,554 1,466
Total debt BIET 1,756 1,701
Less: Cash and bank balances W Be MBI 8 (1,722) (807)
Net debt BT 34 894

Equity attributable to owners of RAEIHEB ANEL R

the Company 16,828 16,375
Total capital and net debt BERREGFHE 16,862 17,269
Gearing ratio BAREFELE 0.2% 5.2%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2023

EZ 20239 A30 B I EFHE

30 Financial Instruments 30 MBI A
Accounting classifications of financial assets and MR EERMEEENETSE
financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
in each category are as follows:

BRIV BEERMBRENKEEDT

Other financial

Amortised liabilities at
cost amortised cost Total
RS R A
HIBRE H b
R AN g S=F @st
Note $°000 $'000 $'000
FiaE FIT Fir T
2023 2023 F
Financial assets BMKEE
Trade and other receivables* 2 5k H fth fiE W 708 * 7 2,437 - 2,437
Cash and bank balances Be MBS 8 1,722 - 1,722
4,159 - 4,159
Financial liabilities BAasE
Lease liability HERE 14 - (202) (202)
Trade and other payables’ 25 N E RN 15 - (1,460) (1,460)
- (1,662) (1,662)
2022 2022 fF
Financial assets BREE
Trade and other receivables® & 5 K H b g U 718 * 7 2,213 - 2,213
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITHER 8 807 - 807
3,020 - 3,020
Financial liabilities BKaE
Borrowings R 13 - €) ©
Lease liability HEEE 14 - (226) (226)
Trade and other payables* E 5 REMEMTIE 15 - (1,415) (1,415)
- (1,650) (1,650)
* Excluding government grant receivable, advances to suppliers * TEIEREWEFREE) - N FHRERR
and tax recoverable AR RFAIAFEUR
# Excluding net output tax # e R IR FE5E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
EZ 20239 A30 8 IFFBFHE

30

31

32

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair values

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables (excluding
government grant receivable, advances to suppliers and tax
recoverable), cash and bank balances, short-term borrowings,
and trade and other payables (excluding net output tax)
approximate their fair values due to their short-term or
repayable on demand nature where the effect of discounting is
insignificant.

The fair value disclosure of lease liability is not required.

Dividends

No dividends were declared for the financial years ended
30.9.2023 and 30.9.2022.

Comparative Information
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in order to
conform with current year’s presentation:

30

31

32

BT B @)
AVE

B 5 R EAMEYGR (B E RN BUT#EE)
B HEROBEMREATRERR) - H
ERBITHER  BHEFARE S REAM
RN FR(TBREEENFE) NIRESE
REGHIEMRAMZAE AL (EE -
BHRERETYE  HPRROFEMTRE -

BEREREHERENATE-

Es)
M B 2202349 A30H 202249 £ 30
HIEMBRFE  SiESRRE

FEEELE
RUEPRANDENSE  UHARFE
HIFI$R -

As previously

reported Reclassification As reclassified

Consolidated statement of
financial position FEBBERRE EMZAIHRE ENSE BENORE
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T F
Deferred capital grant ECEAHD - 48 48
Trade and other payables 25 N H b e FE 1,514 (48) 1,466

Tt ESEE 2021 F10 A1 BH LB E

o

There above reclassification has no impact on the beginning of
the preceding period as at 1 October 2021.

I =

W
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
#HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

33 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of 33 ZANAFBI &A% & i

the Company
33.1 Statement of Financial Position at 30.9.2023 33.1 BERREA2023F9H30H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
$°000 $000
Fr Fi
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in subsidiary R BQRNIRE = =
Current assets REEE
Prepayments ERFE - 25
Amount due from a subsidiary (non-trade)  FEW— I B AR ZIE (EBS) 5,534 5,697
Cash and bank balances ReRIFITHES 9 30
Total assets EEHAE 5,543 5,752
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HipE B R EEA 16 27
16 27
Net current assets REEEFHE 5,527 5,725
Total assets less current liabilities EEBRERRBEE 5,527 5,725
Net assets BEEFE 5,527 5,725
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to owners of RAREBAEGES
the Company
Share capital R AR 1,338 1,338
Reserves & 4,189 4,387
Total equity EREE 5,527 5,725

* less than $1,000

471,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2023
HZ= 202349 A0 HIEMBFE

33 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of
the Company (Continued)
33.2 Reserves

33 ARaMEARRE RFEE @
33.2 f#fE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
R 1EE -5y 7 et
$°000 $°000 $000
T T Fr
Balance at 1.10.2021 R2021 10818
2R 6,221 (4,822) 1,399
Profit for the year, representing FRRAN - BFERNEE
total comprehensive income for Iz 58
the year - 2,988 2,988
Balance at 30.9.2022 7202249 A30H
ZEEER 6,221 (1,834) 4,387
Balance at 1.10.2022 720226108 1H
2R 6,221 (1,834) 4,387
Loss for the year, representing FANEE - IBFRNEE
total comprehensive loss for R4
the year - (198) (198)
Balance at 30.9.2023 7202359 530 H
2 EEER 6,221 (2,032) 4,189

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board on 15.12.2023 and was signed on its
behalf.

Chua Liang Sie
ERE

Director

BE
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

HMBEREE
RESULTS ¥iE
Financial year ended 30 September/ &% 9 A 30 B - BN EE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
$°000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
F Tt v Tt Tt
Revenue WS 14,596 12,020 11,766 13,227 15,468
Profit for the year F W= F 650 260 246 397 410
Total comprehensive FREEAEE
income for the year 1BzE 453 404 283 538 853
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 30 September/R9 A30H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
$°000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
Frx Tt Tt Tt Tt
Total assets BERTE 20,317 19,176 21,014 26,232 19,256
Total liabilities BERE (3,489) (2,801) (5,043) (10,544) (4,106)
Total equity iR 16,828 16,375 15,971 15,688 15,150

2023 F i/ B (1977) #RAERAT 157



158

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

In this report, the following expressions shall have the meanings set out below unless the context requires otherwise.

EARRET - BRIEXER B T
“AGM”
[BERAEAFKE]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

[ARRI ) = [ E 2 Am A )

“ASEAN”
R

“associate(s)”
[EEEE A

“Audit Committee”

[BIEEE

JImo
i3

2 |

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[E=g)

“Board Committee(s)” or “Committee”

[E=gZBg] %282

“BVI”
[RBRELES]

“CG Code”

[EERTA

“Chairman” or “our Chairman”
[EFE] K [RRARINERE]

“China” or “PRC”

[ Bl

“close associate(s)”
[ZZHE A ]

AEBMTRE

annual general meeting of the Company
RARRRBEFRE

articles of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
720183 A21 BEM KA L B HARR A A AR el A A =2 A A (SE B ET)

the Association of Southeast Asia Nations
R ERES

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM LR BfE T 8% 2

the audit committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision C.3.3 of the CG Code
EEFGRETERZET  MN2018F3A21 AKX - WIRMXEIATREC.3.3
16<F BIME ST 3 TE Il 5T B E T I 46 ]

the board of Directors of our Company
RARESRE

the committee of our Board

Exg%8e

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS

the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
GEM TR A 8+ RFTE bR E)a<FRIE 2 3P AKX

the chairman of our Board
EREgXRE

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARANE  stAmEmhs MEHRWE2EME - TEEEE  RFEE

i
=

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM LR Bl PR AR T #0)R 3%
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Companies Ordinance”
INSIEESEN

» o

“Company”, “our Company”,

(AR =[5

»

“Controlling Shareholder(s)

[ 45 R s R
“core connected person(s)”
[z BEAL]

“Deed of Non-competition”

[T 5 2255
“Director(s)”
[E%]

“FSC”

“GEM”
[GEM]

“GEM Listing Rules”
[GEM AR Al

“GHG”

Ny Rt

om = SR RS

we” or “us”

the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
BARERT - MAUSHEHEBENFE 622 B 2 BRG]

Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited ( B¢ (1977) R B R A R]), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017 with limited
liability
BRATNERBER AT - R2017F9 A21 BEMENSTMK M ERRE
[E YN

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules and unless the
context requires otherwise, refers to Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC Chua and YJH
Group. Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC Chua and YJH Group are a group of controlling
shareholders

HBEGEM ETRAIFAE THRE - MIEXESEME  BERBRE - ZHRPH
FERYIHER - BRBEA R PEERYIHEER R —EERRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
B A GEM TR A PriE 7 8% &

the deed of non-competition dated 21.3.2018 and executed by our
Controlling Shareholders in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as
trustee for our subsidiaries)
EIRBEERUAERBRZHZA(BARRRIEREBARNREA) AR B
7201843 A21 AW THFRIE

the director(s) of our Company

RRRER

Forest Stewardship Council, a global not-for-profit organization that sets the
standards for what is a responsibly managed forest, both environmentally

and socially
AMERZEE  BIRIFLFAEM  EHTHERIRRER LAETORNE
BRE

GEM operated by the Stock Exchange
FH B 22 P& (E B GEM

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM, as amended,
supplemented or modified from time to time
KARRHER] ~ TSI GEM S LR Al

green house gas

e
= R

A
=
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

” o« [T

“Group”, “our Group”, “we”,

[ZRE&EE | 5 [#MA)

HHKDH OI’ nHK$U
bl

“Hong Kong” or “HK”

(&%)
“IFRSs”
[ T sR & 2R

“independent third party(ies)”
[ E=7]

“jumbo roll tissue” or “JRT”

[REEFELK]

“KPI”
[BRAERIER

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[T EH]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Memorandum” or “Memorandum of
Association”
[ K40 sk [4AEERE K4 ]

our” or “us”

our Company and our subsidiaries or, where the context so requires, with
respect to the period before which our Company became the holding
company of our current subsidiaries, our Company’s current subsidiaries or
the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the
case may be)

RARREWBRG M XESEME  RARBKBERENBERRNE
AR ZAEIE - AIIEARRRBMBARRZEMBARSRER S AT (R
TESTE ) EATHI TS

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B ETEEEAT BN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of PRC
HEEBRRITTERR

International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board
BIfR & 5T A& B & M a) BIRE W s 5 2R

party(ies) which are not connected person(s) of our Company
WIEARRBIEEATHAL

toilet tissue that is commonly used in public toilet cubicles of commercial
buildings
[SEFNEUNEIESE)EES

key performance indicators
BB DIEIR

the listing of the Shares on GEM
f& A7 GEM ki

16.4.2018, the date on which the Shares are listed on GEM
2018 4 A16 A D GEM £ A &8

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM. For
the avoidance of doubt, the Main Board excludes GEM

R PrEBRREZSM (T REERETS) - BY N GEMI B EWITERE - &
®ER - FRTEIEGEM

memorandum of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RRARNR201843 21 HRMMWABER KA B8 LT HPREN - KT

CH|
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Mr. LC Chua”

[BERPEAE]

“Mr. LS Chua”

(BRI
“Mr. WH Chua”
[E3085% 4%
“Mr. WJ Chua”
B R
“MYR” or “RM”

[2F

4

“Nomination Committee’

“paper pulp” or “pulp”

[#R4R ]

“Previous Year”

[E—5FEF]

Mr. Chua Liang Chui (23 8 5t &), an executive Director, one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the younger brother of Mr. LS Chua and uncle of Mr. WH Chua
and Mr. WJ Chua

WITESEREP —BIERBRRERPALE - RERBAENRBRECEESE
REESREEHMR

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (3% R % 5t 4), an executive Director, chairman of our
Board and chief executive officer of our Company and one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the elder brother of Mr. LC Chua, and the father of Mr. WH
Chua and Mr. WJ Chua

WITEE EEREIRRAAFTRAHRAT —ZERRRERBRE - ”
BERBIEENP I RESOE R E RESURE LR

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) (%2 3% 5E &), an executive Director,
the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua and the elder brother of
Mr. WJ Chua

WITESEUERE  BRERELAANTEFURBER PEENERREXRE
=:0)p

Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenjie) (223X R4t 4E), an executive Director, the
son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua and the younger brother of
Mr. WH Chua

HMITEZENRGE  RERBEENTETURER PEENER REUEE
EasliIES

Malaysian dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Malaysia
AR IRAE B S AR A T &AL

the nomination committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1 of the CG
Code

EERE MREZE® - N2018F3A21 B - Wik EA<FRIFEB.3.1
1< BIME ST 3 TE Il 3T B T I 46 ]

per annum or per year
G

the raw material used to produce tissue paper, which includes recycle pulp,
soft wood pulp, hard wood pulp, virgin pulp, fluff pulp and mixed pulp
FEREGRMABREME - BEEWRAE - SURME BARE  RAEMARE A&
ERMOBAHE

financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZE202249 A0 A LM BFE
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“Prospectus”
[k =12 ]

“Relevant Year”
[BRAFE] ok [HEREFE ]

“Remuneration Committee”
[FNZEE]

“Reorganisation”

[E4]

“Required Standard of Dealings”

[R5 LFIRE]

“Restricted Business”

[ 2R %75 ]

“SFO”

[ 38 7 N B8 16401 |

“S$” or “SGD” or “$”
[Tl sk [ 7]

“Share(s)”

[Bfn ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ R3]

“Share Offer”
e

the prospectus of the Company dated 27.3.2018
AREIAHIA20184F 3 A 27 HAHEIRERR

financial year ended 30.9.2023
EHZ=202349 A30 A ItHHFE

the remuneration committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG
Code

EZEBRTHHFNEZES - N2018F3A21 AKX - WIREEEATAIFEEA2
16 <F BIME S 3 TE Il 5T L E T I 6 ]

the corporate reorganisation of our Group in preparation for the Listing as
described under the section “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure — Reorganisation” of the Prospectus
FEBRERLITMETHRARER  FEHANBRERIESL - EERRAF]
BiE — BMHE] &

the required standard of dealings regarding securities transactions by the
Directors as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
GEM EHRAIFE 548 E 567 IRFIHEFTHETESR R HNRH L FIRE

any business and related business activities engaged by our Group

AEBEFENEMERBE RAAREESEE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
BERBEGEMN (BEENEST1E) - K TREE] - Hrsisk

Singapore dollar(s), the lawful currency of Singapore
AR BB IR T

ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of our
Company
RN R FHEE0.01 BT h LAk

holder(s) of Shares
BHFEA

the public offer and placing of Shares in connection with the Listing
REMARBERREERHN
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“Share Option Scheme”
[ AR AT &1 )
“Singapore”

[ 3703 |

“SPP Investments”

[ SPP Investments ]
“sq.m.”

[F75K]

“Stock Exchange” or “SEHK”
[ B2 P )

“subsidiary(ies)”
[ BT/~ &l ]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[FERE]

“Sunlight Paper”

[ Sunlight Paper |

“United States” or “U.S.”
E3=

“USD” or “US$”
=

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by our Company on
21.3.2018, a summary of principal terms of which is set out in “E. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus

PR Ei2M 80 TE. EAKES S

the Republic of Singapore
FT N AN

SPP Investments Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability
on 6.10.2017 and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

SPP Investments Limited * 742017 F 10 A6 B E R B R LA ETMA B R
NE REARFNEEZEMEB LA

square metre(s)
FI5K

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBAZHMBERDR]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Companies Ordinance
HA R RGP T r R

a Shareholder within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
HaEFMEEGEDEXV A2 EE IR

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore
with limited liability on 8.7.1977 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
our Company

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd. * 741977 &7 A8 BIEF I AL A E R
NE REARFNEEZENE LA

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

ENRAaRE  HEL  HBMEXEREEENMETE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EBEFEERET
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

“YJH Group” YJH Group Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability on
31.8.2017, one of our Controlling Shareholders, and is owned as to
approximately 82.76% by Mr. LS Chua and 17.24% by Mr. LC Chua.

[YIHEE | YJH Group Limited * 720178 A31 B ERBERE XS TMRUMNARAR
REMER —BERRER - BERBRERBRPEEDRITHE L B82.76% &
17.24% B AR 4

“%” per cent

[%] Aot

Notes: B 5 -

—  all dates are shown in d/dd.m/mm.yyyy format - FEEXEESHER/ R/ FBRART
— allfigures shown in $'m, $ million, $’000 and % are approximates —  FAEEEBRL TRkBESLHALUE

164  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023



